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Foreword by
The Accountant in
Bankruptcy

Welcome to the 2016-17
Annual Report and Accounts
This annual report chronicles another very
successful year for the Agency. We have seen a
small but steady increase in new case volumes
– as set out in the statistics at Appendix B – but
have continued to deliver successfully against
our performance targets.

We have managed the implementation of the
consolidated Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016 in
November, which required a vast amount of
detailed administrative preparation. Stakeholders
are already benefiting from the clarity and
accessibility of the new legislation. Continued
improvements have been made to our new IT
systems, with a series of upgrades released across
the year. All of this was reflected in the very
positive customer survey reported in our Key
Performance Indicators, and in feedback from our
on-going series of stakeholder events.

On the policy side, it has also been a busy and
productive year. Work has continued on the
major project to modernise Scotland’s corporate
insolvency rules, alongside on-going policy
development work on the Debt Arrangement
Scheme, protected trust deeds and diligence,
which will see further reforms being brought
before the Scottish Parliament in the coming
months.

None of this would have been possible without
the continued commitment, hard work and
professionalism of the staff here in Kilwinning, and
I am grateful to them for all they have achieved
over the year.

This report provides information in three parts.

Part one is the Performance Report and is split
into two sections. The first section provides an
overview of the organisation, our purpose, the key
risks to the achievement of our objectives and sets
out some thoughts on the factors that may affect
our future performance. The second section is the
performance analysis, which reports our main
performance measures and longer trend analysis.

Part two is the Accountability Report and is over
three sections. The first looks at corporate
governance, with statements on my
responsibilities, the AiB Advisory Board and senior
management structure, and details of our
governance framework. The second section looks
at remuneration of our senior employees and
reports on various staff resource measures across
the Agency for the year. The final section
describes our Parliamentary responsibilities and
includes a copy of the independent auditor’s
report.

And finally, part three contains the Financial
Statements which include comprehensive
accounts of the assets and expenditure of the
Agency along with detail of how we have
minimised our call on the public purse.

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Dr Richard Dennis
The Accountant in Bankruptcy and Agency
Chief Executive
7 August 2017
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Part 1 – The Performance Report

Overview

Statement by chief executive on performance for the period

This report follows a period of consolidation for the Agency which has seen bankruptcy
numbers showing an increase following 10 years of significant decline in case volumes.

Accountant in Bankruptcy (AiB) is in a good place to deal with increasing case volumes following
the groundwork laid in 2015-16, which saw us bed in new legislation and launch our new BASYS
IT system. BASYS is already proving more popular than its predecessors with our external
customers and users.

2016-17 has been a year full of major IT developments, which will increase the efficiency and
effectiveness of all our systems and make it simpler for our partners to work with us.

We have also worked closely with the sector and the wider community to make sure the major
policy changes introduced through the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act, which
commenced on 1 April 2015, are delivering the intended outcomes while assessing if minor
adjustments can produce further benefits.

In the year ahead, our agenda will be one of continuous improvement, driven both by the need
to adjust to forecasts of declining income as the number of cases concluding continues to fall,
and by our determination to ensure the statutory debt management and debt relief products
we provide meet the needs of an ever-changing economy.
Our policy team will also complete the major project to modernise the Scottish corporate
insolvency rules this year, and will take forward any changes recommended following our recent
consultations on the Debt Arrangement Scheme, protected trust deeds and diligence. We have
been active on the international stage, hosting the International Association of Insolvency
Regulators Six Nations forum in Edinburgh in May, and will play a full part in the association’s
annual conference in London in September.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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AiB’s purpose and activities

AiB is an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government under the terms of the Scotland
Act 1998. The Agency operates independently and impartially while remaining directly
accountable to Scottish Ministers.

The Accountant in Bankruptcy (The Accountant) is an independent Statutory Officer and an
officer of the court appointed under section 199 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016. The
Accountant is also Agency Chief Executive and Accountable Officer.

The Agency is responsible for the determination of personal and entity bankruptcy applications,
making decisions on debt payment programme applications under the Debt Arrangement
Scheme (DAS), and protecting trust deeds. All bankruptcies, trust deeds and statutory debt
payment programmes are recorded in public registers maintained by the Agency along with
details of corporate liquidations and receiverships.

    “

Part 1 – The Performance Report
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Part 1 – The Performance Report
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AiB’s mission is achieved and defined by its statutory and general functions:

● delivering, with stakeholders, a range of options for individuals seeking debt relief and
debt management

● supervising insolvency in Scotland
● providing statutory information by maintaining a public register of insolvencies and the

DAS register
● supporting ministers by developing policy
● protecting creditors and the general public
● achieving best value

AiB also maintains a set of core organisational values where it ensures
activities are:

● independent
● responsive
● accountable
● transparent
● fair
● open

As an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government, AiB further ensures its
activities are in line with the government’s purpose. AiB’s work impacts
strongly upon four of the 16 National Outcomes:

● we realise our full economic potential with more and better employment opportunities for
our people

● we have tackled the significant inequalities in Scottish society
● we have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take responsibility for

their own actions and how they affect others
● our public services are high quality, continually improving, efficient and responsive to local

people’s needs

http://www.gov.scot/About/Performance/scotPerforms/outcome
http://www.gov.scot/About/Performance/scotPerforms/outcome
http://www.gov.scot/About/Performance/scotPerforms/outcome
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Performance indicators
2016-17

Target

2016-17

Actual
Trend v last

year

Notes Time

1
KPI-1: Average AiB processing
time to debtor application
decision

2.5 days 1.3 days New

1 KPI-1: Average AiB processing
time to protect trust deed 2 days 1.6 days New

1 KPI-1: Average AiB processing
time to DAS application decision 6 days 6.9 days New

1 KPI-2: Average total time until
debtor application decision 9 days 6.9 days New

1 KPI-2: Average total time to
protect trust deed 10 days 3.4 days New

1 KPI-2: Average total time to DAS
application decision 35 days 36.1 days New

2 % of invoices paid within 10 days 100% 98% Improving

3 % of complaints responded to
within target timescale 100% 100% Improving

Average time taken to determine
accounts 20 days 12 days Decreasing

Cost
1 KPI-3: Unit cost of sequestration £451 £365 New

1 KPI-3: Unit cost of PTD £47 £47 New

1 KPI-3: Unit cost of DPP under DAS £78 £65 New

4 % of cases where a dividend is
returned to creditors 21% 28% Improving

5 Costs recovered from fees Break even (£134k) Decreasing

Efficiency savings delivered £0.096m £0.8m Decreasing

Quality
1 KPI-4: Customer satisfaction score 85% 93% Improving

6 Levels of carbon emissions 210 tonnes 163 tonnes Improving

7 Retain Gold Investors In People
accreditation Gold Gold Retained

7 % of staff positively engaged 61% 59% Decreasing

7 Levels of sickness absence 7.44 days 8.70 days Improving
Notes:
1. See KPI narrative on pages 23 to 26 for more detail on KPIs 1 to 4
2. AiB made 100% of payments within the actual invoice deadlines
3. See page 18 for further detail on AiB complaints
4. Bankruptcy dividends are on page 91, Appendix B
5. Net operating costs for the year are shown on page 55 financial statements
6. Details of carbon emissions are in the sustainability report on pages 27 and 28
7. See AiB people on pages 45 to 47 for further information
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Key issues and risks affecting the organisation

AiB maintains a corporate risk register which identifies the critical external risks from across
the Agency and pinpoints the mitigating actions required to reduce the threat of these risks
occurring and their impact.

The register is reviewed on a quarterly
basis by the Senior Management Team
and presented quarterly to the AiB Audit
Committee and AiB Advisory Board for
further scrutiny.

The areas identified in the register are
paramount in making business decisions.
Each branch also has separate risk
registers for their business areas. Key risk
management activities during the year
related to:

● stakeholder engagement – taking action based on policy reviews of DAS and protected trust
deeds to meet stakeholder expectations. Modernisation of corporate insolvency legislation to
fulfil the requirements and demands of the sector

● ensuring capacity to deliver services and statutory functions – as an Executive Agency of the
Scottish Government, AiB must adhere to the recruitment policies set centrally. Due to AiB's
location and recent changes to the promotion policy, there is an on-going challenge in
recruiting to and retaining staff in certain specialist posts

● delivery of service improvements to meet user expectations following the introduction of new
legislation and IT systems

● income realisation and living within budget – securing the resources necessary to deliver serv-
ices

● ensuring procurement requirements are fully met and best value is achieved when procuring
key services for the Agency

Information risk

AiB has responsibility for processing and handling personal and sensitive information. The Agency
follows Scottish Government policy on information security and has a Senior Information Risk
Owner along with Information Asset Owners in place to manage risk to information.

Trends and factors affecting the future

2016-17 saw the first upturn in new case volumes following many years of decline. There were
special factors in 2015-16 likely to have led to a decrease in demand for statutory debt solutions
so, to some extent, 2016-17 may be a return to more “normal” volumes. Nevertheless, AiB expects
this rising trend to continue into 2017-18, not least due to strong increases in consumer credit
over the past year, which has tended to correlate to higher levels of insolvency two years further
down the line.

Part 1 – The Performance Report
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At the point of writing, there has recently been a UK General Election – one further element in a
wider climate of political and economic uncertainty that may have a major impact on future
volumes, particularly should there be a significant increase in interest rates. On a more positive
note, it was good to see a number of party manifestos commit to introducing an equivalent to
Scotland’s Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) for the rest of the UK. This offers the potential for
joint-working and may help improve creditor awareness of DAS.

For 2017-18, the Agency’s investment in IT and the professionalism of its staff stand us in good
stead to deal with an upswing in volumes without negatively impacting on established high
standards of performance. AiB will need to keep a close eye on developments that may drive
workloads in future years.

Part 1 – The Performance Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy
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Performance summary
In 2016-17, the numbers of personal insolvencies and approved debt payment programmes
increased. This outcome was expected following low case volumes in 2015-16 due to a
change in legislation and roll-out of BASYS, the new bankruptcy case management system.

November 2016 saw the commencement
of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016.
The Act consolidates recent legislative
changes to bankruptcy process, makes
the personal insolvency legislation more
accessible and provides a much
improved structure.

Consultations on the Debt Arrangement
Scheme and protected trust deeds were
commenced.

There was a strong focus on continued
improvement to AiB’s IT systems BASYS,
ASTRA and DASH. These developments have benefitted both internal and external users.

In December 2016, the Agency was awarded its third successive Healthy Working Lives Gold
Award from the Healthy Working Lives Award Programme in Scotland. AiB is also continuing
work to retain the Investors in People Gold standard.

The Chief Executive took part in
meetings of the International
Association of Insolvency
Regulators Executive Committee
and attended the annual
conference in September.
Additional meetings of the Six
Nations sub-group have
contributed to continued sharing
of best practice between British
Isles insolvency regulators.

Part 1 – The Performance Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy
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Part 1 – The Performance Report

This was the first year of a modernised set of key performance indicators (KPIs). During the year,
AiB achieved or exceeded eight of its 10 KPIs and missed two. These measures have helped
drive positive change to AiB’s processes.

AiB measures five main targets from its Environmental Policy Statement. In 2016-17, The Agency
succeeded in three annual targets, were unable to make the desired reductions in one, and
remained on course for one 2020 target (see page 27).

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 introduced a statutory target to reduce Scotland’s
greenhouse gas emissions by 43% by 2020 and 80% by 2050. An increased focus on using
sustainable travel saw the Agency’s carbon emissions reducing despite the inclusion of train and
air travel emissions to the calculation.

Twenty Freedom of Information requests were received during the year. All were completed
within the 20 day deadline (see page 18).

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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Performance analysis

Building on BADA(S)

The Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 2014 (BADAS) came into force on 1 April
2015. The significant reforms introduced by BADAS are now well established and AiB is
committed to start a review of these reforms later this year.

The Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016 came into force in November 2016 together with a set of
consolidated secondary legislation. This brings together all personal insolvency legislation in
Scotland, including the changes introduced by BADAS. It also makes the law more accessible and
easier to understand.

AiB remains committed to
understanding and assessing the
impact of policy changes and
reviews commencedon the
legislative changes introduced in
2013 and 2014 for both
protected trust deeds and DAS.
Consultations were conducted to
seek feedback from all
stakeholders on the impact and
effectiveness of these changes.
The Agency’s responses to these
consultations are currently being
finalised and are expected to be
published shortly. A review of
diligence provisions in Scotland

is currently under way following a consultation exercise. In the year ahead, AiB will conclude each
of these reviews and will begin the process of introducing any recommendations.

Work on corporate insolvency continues to address the long-standing situation where the
processes followed by practitioners in Scotland are out of step with those in England and Wales.
The first phase of work saw an industry-wide consultation and the introduction of The Public
Services Reform (Insolvency) (Scotland) Order 2016. This statutory instrument allows the
amendments to those corporate insolvency matters which are reserved to the UK Government to
be carried across to those devolved to Scotland. In conjunction with the Insolvency Service, work to
modernise the Insolvency (Scotland) Rules is now well under way. The Scottish Rules Working
Group continues to assist in the process and this project will form a major part of AiB’s policy
development agenda for the coming year.

Part 1 – The Performance Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17



14

Part 1 – The Performance Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Recovery of fees

AiB recovers costs by way of statutory fees contained in the Bankruptcy Fees (Scotland)
Regulations 2014, which include application and supervision fees. The fees allow AiB to recover
the operational running costs of the Agency as well as the costs incurred in administering cases
where AiB is appointed trustee, such as insolvency practitioner and legal costs.

Income realisation from bankruptcy generally runs four years in arrears. As discharged case
volumes begin to reduce in line with a historic reduction in awards, it is expected the income
realised in the year will also reduce, resulting in a greater requirement for funding from the
Scottish Government or the need to increase fees.

Draft budget £m SBR budget £m
Actual

expenditure/
(surplus) £m

Prior year
expenditure/
(surplus) £m

Resource budget 0.5 0.9 0.1 (0.5)

Capital budget 0.7 1.1 1.3 1.6

Annual accounts

In August 2016, Grant Thornton (UK) LLP was appointed by the Scottish Government as
external auditor to AiB.

This new relationship follows five years when Audit Scotland acted as external auditor to the
Agency.

AiB has once more received a positive external audit report along with substantial assurance
provided in a number of audits throughout the year. These provide continued assurance the
annual accounts provide an accurate reflection of the Agency’s financial position while internal
audit reports confirm the  internal controls in place at AiB are effective.

The accounts were prepared under the Accounts Direction by Scottish Ministers detailed at
Appendix A. They were prepared on a going concern basis, which means the Agency intends to
continue its business for the foreseeable future and is able to do so.

The financial position of AiB in the year saw a total expenditure of £12.6m which was funded by
£12.5m of income generated from fees and charges and budget allocated from Scottish
Government of £0.1m. During the year, the Scottish Government provided additional funding of
£0.4m revenue to cover additional operational expenditure and £0.4m to deliver essential systems
development. The final outturn was significantly less than budget due to higher than anticipated
refunds to the public purse from bankruptcy cases and savings being realised as part of planned
efficiency measures put in place to mitigate against forecasted shortfalls in future years.
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Capital expenditure

The majority of capital was invested in improving AiB’s IT systems and capabilities. £810,000 was
used to increase functionality and refine processes in the Agency’s case management systems.
£165,000 was spent on other minor capital purchases such as IT hardware, software licences and
a new telephone system. During 2016-17, the Agency spent £307,000 on refurbishing the air
conditioning system at its Kilwinning office.

Digital service delivery

Following discussion with
customers, AiB developed
additional functionality
across its three core
systems: BASYS (the public-facing bankruptcy system), ASTRA (used for trust deeds) and DASH
(used to administer the Debt Arrangement Scheme). Various technology improvements where
benefits could be realised have also been delivered.

Throughout 2016-17, AiB continued to meet with colleagues and other stakeholders to identify
and react to the technical implications of legislative changes under consideration. In view of the
importance of information technology to the Agency and its stakeholders, all technological
enhancements were delivered in a formal project environment using Prince2 methodology.

In early December, all live bankruptcy and trust deed cases were migrated to new systems. To
meet operational needs, a read-only solution to accommodate closed cases was developed and
delivered. This allowed AiB to decommission its legacy case management systems.

Various improvements to
technical infrastructure have been
delivered during the reporting
year as outlined in the Agency’s
ICT strategy, including work to
remove, upgrade or
decommission all Windows 2003
servers in line with the
requirements of the Scottish
Government Information and
Technology Services (iTECS).

Across the Agency, ICT monitors
were replaced, providing a

better working environment for staff. Working with iTECS, AiB completed a project to
introduce the Mitel telephone system across the Agency, bringing AiB into step with the rest of
the Scottish Government.

Part 1 – The Performance Report
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Social media

Twitter is a platform increasingly used by government departments to reach key audiences and
stakeholders as it offers an immediate means of engagement and collaboration. More
pertinently, members of the public and customers increasingly expect to be able to engage with
companies and public bodies via Twitter.

AiB has had a corporate presence on Twitter since June 2011, while a
channel for DAS was added in February 2012 and Scotland’s Financial
Health Service has had a Twitter presence since January 2016.

In line with AiB’s published communications strategy, AiB is seeking to
extend and enhance the Agency’s use of Twitter to make it a more
integral part of AiB’s stakeholder engagement activity.

Twitter delivers an additional, low-barrier method for audiences to
interact with the Agency to provide feedback, seek help and suggest
ideas. We also monitor mentions of the Agency, allowing us to

positively engage with AiB’s critics and key influencers to resolve problems, dissatisfaction or
correct factual inaccuracies. Moves have been made to use the platform to provide live coverage
of events (such as stakeholder events) for those who cannot attend.

Health, wellbeing and social matters

AiB recognises the importance and
value of its staff and continues annual
assessments to retain its Investors in
People gold accreditation. The second
year interim assessment in spring 2017
was very positive. This, and other staff
engagement activities, are detailed in
the Staff Report on page 45.

AiB's Healthy Working Lives committee
promotes health and wellbeing within
the Agency and is responsible for
achieving the Healthy Working Lives award. AiB shares the same vision as the Scottish Centre for
Healthy Working Lives, which is to give everyone the opportunity to work in ways which sustain
and improve their health and wellbeing. Organisations, communities and individuals can all reap
the rewards of a healthier and safer workforce.

@DASScotland

Part 1 – The Performance Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy
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The Healthy Working Lives award programme supports and encourages employers and employees
to develop health promotion and safety themes in the workplace in a practical, logical way that's
beneficial to all.

The award programme encompasses a wide
range of topics, including:

● health promotion
● occupational health and safety
● health and the environment
● mental health and wellbeing
● community involvement
● employability

At the end of 2016, AiB obtained its third
consecutive Healthy Working Lives Gold
Award from the Award Programme in
Scotland. The outcomes-based approach to
maintaining this award continues.

Additional activities through 2016-17 saw AiB
staff raise over £3,500 for the neo-natal unit
at Crosshouse Hospital by taking part in
various activities organised by the group. This funding enabled the hospital to purchase a new twin
incubator.

Global reach

The Chief Executive attended the
International Association of Insolvency
Regulators annual conference and
general meeting in September. The
conference discussed shared concerns
such as duration of bankruptcy, levels of
debtor contributions, addressing the
needs of creditors, and education of
debtors to try and help avoid
encountering the same difficulties again.

AiB continues to be involved in the Six
Nations agreement where insolvency regulators from Scotland, England & Wales, Northern Ireland,
Republic of Ireland, Jersey and Guernsey meet to explore related issues and share best practice.

F:\annual report 2017\Pdf 6.jpg
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Freedom of Information

In 2016-17, AiB received 20 Freedom of Information requests. All requests were completed
within the 20 day period. Two were refused under the relevant sections of the Freedom of
Information Scotland Act on the grounds that disclosure would breach professional privilege
or data protection principles, and because information requested was not contained in the
relevant sederunt book.

Part 1 – The Performance Report
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Complaints

AiB handles complaints about AiB, its staff, and agents providing a contracted service. In
2016-17, AiB received four complaints about the behaviours of AiB staff and 26 about our
providers, who administer bankruptcies on behalf of The Accountant. A further two complaints
were received about how we handled a protected trust deed and a debt payment programme.

This was a decrease in number from the 39 complaints received in 2015/16.

Fifteen complaints were investigated and finalised within five working days, under our front line
resolution process, and 17 were investigated and finalised within our specified 20 working day
target period. Three complaints were upheld.

Outcome of FOI requests 2016-17 by quarter
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Fully released 2 4 3 4 13
Part released 2 2 0 0 4
Refused 2 0 0 0 2
Information not held 1 0 0 0 1

Released following holding letter 0 0 0 0 0

Withdrawn 0 0 0 0 0
Total: 7 6 3 4 20

Response to FOI requests by quarter
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Released in statutory timescale 7 6 3 4 20

Withdrawn 0 0 0 0 0
Reviews released 0 0 0 0 0
Appeal 0 0 0 0 0

Total: 7 6 3 4 20
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How AiB measures performance

AiB’s 2020 Business Strategy was developed during the reporting year. It outlines the business
direction and defines the strategic purposes the Agency will follow over the next four years. This
strategy is consistent with the aims of the Scottish Government’s 2020 programme about creating
the organisation ready to meet the demands of the next decade.

The Business Strategy sets out three key
purposes that will provide an umbrella to
AiB’s business activities. These are:

● deliver core products
● continuous improvement
● build and maintain effective

stakeholder relationships

These activities will allow AiB to deliver its
corporate mission and will provide a focal
point in developing annual and longer term
Agency corporate and business plans.

AiB carefully monitors all its business activities. Planning and performance management helps
ensure AiB achieves what it sets out to do by creating a continuous loop between planning,
implementation, monitoring and reporting.

Business objectives are delivered against the Scottish Government’s National Outcomes and
purpose targets. AiB’s one-year business plan and individual branch plans set out in detail what the
Agency does to achieve its objectives. These plans are closely monitored with progress and
performance reported on throughout the year.

The Business Support team reviews progress against the plans and monitors performance
improvements. The Agency performance dashboard and quarterly reports illustrate how successful
AiB has been in achieving its goals. This Annual Report contains an annual review of performance
and progress, which is reported to the Scottish Parliament.

The business objectives filter down through branch and team plans. Individual staff objectives for
the year are therefore determined by the Agency’s strategic aims and priorities. The performance
of staff against individual objectives is measured through the Scottish Government’s performance
appraisal scheme.

The Agency is committed to continuous improvement and ensures its audit findings (external
audit, internal audit, Audit Committee) and feedback from staff inform planning processes.

https://www.aib.gov.uk/sites/default/files/aib_business_strategy_2020_external_version.pdf
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Analysis of development and performance in year

This section provides some key statistical information on the various debt solutions. A full and
detailed statistical analysis of all products can be found in Appendix B.

In 2016-17 there were 4,562 bankruptcies awarded, which was a 21% increase from the
previous year.

AiB registered 5,470 protected trust deeds, an increase of 16% on 2015-16.

DAS saw 2,233 debt payment programmes approved. This was a 9% increase from last year.

The following chart shows the trends for the years 2006-07 to 2016-17:
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This chart shows the trend in the number of liquidations and receiverships for companies
registered in Scotland as recorded for the years 2010-11 to 2016-17:

In 2016-17 the number of receiverships for companies registered in Scotland was five compared
with four in the previous year.

Compulsory liquidations fell 6% compared with 2015-16 to 558.

There were 283 creditors’ voluntary liquidations which was a 6% decrease on those recorded last
reporting year.

The following page shows some high level trends for the year, including further information on
statutory debt solution and corporate insolvencies as shown above:

Part 1 – The Performance Report
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Key performance indicators

AiB performs statutory functions to decide and process bankruptcy applications, protect and
supervise trust deeds and decide on debt payment programmes under DAS. The Agency also
has a duty to minimise the cost to the public purse for undertaking these activities.

AiB has revised its key performance measures to reflect the changes the Agency has undergone
since the introduction of BADA(S) last year. AiB measures performance based upon three main
criteria: time, cost and quality. The new set of KPIs were introduced in the 2016-17 Corporate and
Business Plan. AiB will continue to take action to improve its services and these KPIs will help identify
key areas. The KPIs can also be viewed on the AiB website.

Time KPI-1: measures the time taken to process applications by AiB

Objective: to maximise IT and process efficiencies without detriment to service and to minimise the
time a customer will have to wait for AiB to adjudicate on their application.

Time KPI-2: measures the real time taken from date of application until date of award

Objective: to work with the money advice sector to help share best practice and process, and to
provide the debtor with a realistic expectation of time for a decision to be made on their application.

Cost KPI-3: measures the cost to administer each product

Objective: To make a 3% efficiency saving against 2016-17 budget costs. The three Cost KPIs are
designed to measure internal process efficiency and therefore include only those costs directly
attributable to administering cases, predominantly the cost of operations staff. The KPIs exclude
insolvency practitioner fees and case outlays which are dependent on specific case circumstances.
They also exclude all office overheads, including systems depreciation which are fixed regardless of
case volumes. Total fees to insolvency practitioners and case outlays in 2016-17 were £4.6m,
depreciation was £1.2m and overheads were £3.7m.

Quality KPI-4: measures level of customer satisfaction

Objective: To measure success in processes and consistency in dealing with the customer base,
including debtors, creditors and both public and private sector money advisers.

Part 1 – The Performance Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy
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The results of the 2016-17 KPIs are:

BANKRUPTCY

KPI-1 target: 2.5 days   Outcome: 1.3 days

The time when the application and fee are received by the finance team until the time a
bankruptcy goes live on the Register of Insolvencies. This measure is for debtor applications only.

Through 2016-17 AiB has introduced continued IT functionality improvements to the BASYS case
management system. These improvements combined with team process streamlining have seen
AiB achieve its target.

KPI-2 target: 9 days   Outcome: 6.9 days

The total time from receipt of the application until decision on award or rejection is made
including any time when further information or documentation from the debtor is being awaited.

By improving internal process, AiB has worked with the money advice sector to establish best
practice and process with BASYS (introduced in April 2015) to continue understanding
requirements and expectations and thus minimising the time impact on the debtor.

KPI-3 target: £451    Outcome: £365

Average cost to AiB of administering a bankruptcy, where AiB is the trustee, for the full life of the
case. This includes cases administered in-house including the Minimum Asset Process and those
cases issued to contracted providers. Costs included are AiB costs directly attributable to
administering the bankruptcy.

This average cost outcome has been achieved in 2016-17 due to continued process and IT
efficiencies being put in place and as a result of higher than expected case volumes. AiB also works
closely with its providers on continuous improvement and to share best practice to enable further
cost and quality efficiencies.

Part 1 – The Performance Report
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PROTECTED TRUST DEEDS

PTD KPI-1 target: 2 days   Outcome: 1.6 days

The time taken from receipt by AiB of a Form 3 (which is the submission by the trustee of a trust
deed for protection) until the protection or rejection of the trust deed.

Continued work with trustees to drive efficiency combined IT improvements to the ASTRA trust
deed system have helped AiB achieve its processing time target.

PTD KPI-2 target: 10 days  Outcome: 3.4 days

The total time following the advertising period from when objections to a trust deed can no
longer be submitted to the trustee until the protection or rejection of the trust deed by AiB.

As with PTD KPI-1, the commitment to stakeholder engagement has contributed to achieving
this target.

PTD KPI-3 target: £47   Outcome: £47

Average cost to AiB of administering a protected trust deed for the full life of the case. This
includes all AiB costs directly attributable to administering the PTD.

As with bankruptcy, higher than expected case volumes have contributed to achieving the
average cost of processing. Additional IT efficiencies have also contributed.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17 Part 1 – The Performance Report
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DEBT ARRANGEMENT SCHEME

DAS KPI -1 target: 6 days  Outcome: 6.9 days

Calculated over two phases. Firstly, the time from initial receipt of a debt payment programme until
proposal letters are issued to creditors. Secondly, from the end of the creditor approval period until
the programme decision letters are issued. This measure is only for cases submitted by public
money advisers.

This target average was not achieved due
to a small number of exceptional cases
which did not proceed as normal, resulting
in delivery times exceeding expectations.
Internal processes have been addressed to
eliminate the chance of similar
occurrences.

DAS KPI-2 target: 35 days  Outcome: 36.1 days

The total time from initial submission of a debt payment programme to AiB until the decision. This
includes all time when the proposal has been issued to creditors, who must respond within a
maximum of 21 days.

As with DAS KPI-1, there were a small number of cases in the first reporting quarter which carried a
high impact on the end-of-year average delivery time. Some external and IT processes were
amended during the year to reduce the likelihood of a similar future occurrence and impact.

DAS KPI-3 target: £78   Outcome: £65

Average cost to AIB of administering a debt payment programme for the full life of the case. This
includes all AiB costs directly attributable to administering the programme.

QUALITY

Quality KPI-4 target: 85%   Outcome: 93%

KPI-4: AiB conducted a customer satisfaction survey in late 2016. A course of action to improve the
quality of service based upon the results has been identified.

AiB improved upon the results from the previous survey in 2014. The most recent customer survey
was conducted towards the end of 2016 and showed very positive results, despite the widespread
changes introduced the previous year which had impacted across the industry. These results show
the continued commitment of all staff to provide the highest quality service to customers. The full
survey results are available on the AiB website.
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Sustainability

AiB measures five main targets from its Environmental Policy Statement. In 2016-17, the
Agency succeeded in three annual targets, were unable to make the desired reductions in
one annual target, and remained on course for one 2020 target.

Target 1: Maintain carbon emissions within +5% tolerance of 2015-16 level

In 2016-17, AiB’s carbon emissions totalled 163 tonnes, a reduction of 18.5 per
cent (37 tonnes) from the previous year. As reported in last year’s annual report, from this year AiB
is able to report on train and air travel emissions, previously not included.

The Agency is committed to reducing the impact on the environment caused by vehicle emissions
and promoting the use of more sustainable methods of travel.

AiB continues to participate in the Scottish Government Carbon Emissions Scheme whereby a
mandatory £1 levy is charged when a car is booked through Enterprise.  These are collected by
Enterprise on an annual basis and returned to the Scottish Government’s carbon levy pot for
donation to an environmental cause.

The Agency’s carbon emissions figure is currently calculated using figures provided by AiB’s
energy supplier EDF, the emissions figure for car hire provided by Enterprise and data from travel
contractor Redfern.

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 introduced a statutory target to reduce Scotland’s
greenhouse gas emissions by 43% by 2020 and 80% by 2050. AiB continues to take appropriate
steps to contribute towards this aim by minimising its energy use and recording carbon emissions.

Target 2: Maintain energy consumption within + 5% of the 2015-16 level

 Overall total energy
consumption decreased from 401,293 KWh in
2015-16 to 383,742 KWh in 2016-17
representing a 4.4% decrease.

The Agency is committed to reducing the
amount of energy consumed within the office
by promoting energy efficiency to all staff.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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Target 3: Maintain water consumption within + 5% of the 2015-16 level

Total water consumption increased from
585m3 in 2015-16 to 626m3 in 2016-17 representing an
increase of 7%.

The Agency has measures such as zip taps and dual flush
toilets in place to help save water where possible.

Target 4: Maintain volume of waste going to landfill within
+ 5% of the 2015-16 level

Total volume of waste being sent to
landfill reduced by 14.3%, from 1.4 tonnes in 2015-16 to 1.2
tonnes in 2016-17.

The Agency will continue to encourage recycling and have
added food waste composting to further reduce the
amount of waste sent to landfill. AiB will continue to
monitor the amount of waste generated to help ensure it
maximises the recycling of office waste.

Target 5: Reduce the paper used by 33 per cent in 2020 from 2011-12 baseline level

Paper consumption decreased by 34% from 320 boxes per year in 2015-16 to
211 boxes in 2016-17. Compared with the 2011/12 baseline figure consumption of paper has
decreased by 60%.

As AiB continues to increase its digital capability, the amount of paper purchased continues to
decrease. The change to an electronic bankruptcy application system has contributed to a
significant decrease in paper consumption in 2016-17.

Dr Richard Dennis
Accountable Officer
7 August 2017
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Part 2 – The Accountability Report

Corporate governance report
Director’s report
Introduction

This report is prepared in accordance with Chapter 5 of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006
and Schedule 7 of SI 2008 No 410, as interpreted by the Government Financial Reporting
Manual 2016-17 for the public sector context.

Performance Report

The Performance Report as set out in Chapter 4A of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006, as
interpreted by the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2016-17 for the public sector context,
precedes this Director’s Report.

Personal data related incidents

As reported in the Governance Statement on page 35, one issue was identified through 2016-17 but
did not require to be reported to the Information Commissioner.

Estates strategy

The Agency holds a lease for its
current premises until 2025. AiB
has capacity in the building,
which is advertised on the
estates section of the Scottish
Government intranet, and the
Chief Executive has been actively
seeking potential co-inhabitants. However, there are possible implications regarding security and
re-configuration associated with any new occupants and there would be some cost implications.

Following recent identification of structural defects and issues with construction quality across a
number of school estates throughout Scotland, Scottish Futures Trust selected AiB’s office as part of
a sample of buildings under the responsibility of Scottish Ministers to be inspected. AiB undertook a
comprehensive structural survey during the year to provide assurance over the structural safety of
its office in Kilwinning.

The survey found no issues with the building structure and there were no signs of distress or need
for repair. The report also suggested routine checks be carried out, although this is already standard
practice. All findings have been submitted to the building landlord, North Ayrshire Council.

Accountant in Bankruptcy
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Chair, chief executive, composition of the Board and Board interests

Management structure

The Agency’s strategy and decisions are the responsibilities of the Agency Chief Executive. The
Chief Executive is also both The Accountant and the Accountable Officer and receives strategic
support from the AiB Advisory Board, Senior Management Team and a number of sub committees.
As an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government, the Chief Executive also acts as chair of the
Advisory Board.

The Advisory Board

During 2016-17, the AiB Advisory Board mainly comprised two executives and four non-executive
directors. Changes to the Board structure meant the newly-named Advisory Board saw two
additional non-executive positions created. The fifth non-executive joined the Advisory Board in
February 2017 to complete the desired structure.

Non-Executive Board Members

Yvonne
MacDermid

Laurie
Manson
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The Accountant in Bankruptcy and
Agency Chief Executive

Dr Richard Dennis

Executive Director of Case Operations and
Depute Accountant in Bankruptcy

John Cook

Executive Board Members

Kate
Dunlop

Bryan
Jackson

Mike
Norris
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Non-executive board members are appointed in an advisory capacity to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, performance, resources and standards of conduct within the
Agency. Non-executives are expected to act as a counterbalance to the Executive Board
members and challenge them where necessary.

The Advisory Board met four times in 2016-17 and was supported through attendance of Senior
Management Team members. The Senior Management Team meets monthly and comprises
both executive directors along with heads of department from AiB’s three main business areas:

Senior Management Team

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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Head of Efficiencies and Technology

Steve McGhee

Head of Adjudication and Supervision

Graeme Perry

Head of Operational Policy

Fiona Coyle

Head of Governance

Lisa Shaw

Head of Policy Development

Alex Reid

Head of Finance

Amanda Dowse (From Feb 17)    Rebecca Crook (to Jan 17)
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AiB’s sub committees and advisory forums:

Risk and Audit Committee

The Audit Committee met four times in 2016-17, was chaired by one of AiB’s non-executive
board members and gave the Chief Executive assurances over the functioning of AiB’s
internal governance and finance systems. The committee is responsible for overseeing and
reviewing the established risk and associated assurance processes through constructive
challenge. In 2016-17 the Audit Committee members were Kate Dunlop (chair), Yvonne
MacDermid, Laurie Manson and Lee Shedden (independent external committee member).

Policy and Cases Committee

The Policy and Cases Committee met three times in 2016-17, chaired by one of AiB’s non-
executive board members. The committee is responsible for providing the Chief Executive
with advice on challenging cases and policy issues. In 2016-17 the Policy and Cases
Committee members were Bryan Jackson (chair), Yvonne MacDermid and Lee Bruce
(independent external committee member).

Debt and Insolvency Services Stakeholder Forum (DISSF)

The DISSF offers a central, collaborative body of expertise on debt and insolvency matters for
Scotland. The forum met three times in 2016-17. It represents the Agency's broad
stakeholder base from the money advice sector, insolvency, law, finance and banking, local
authority and sister government departments to help ensure AiB is listening to and working
with those impacted by the work of the Agency.

Register of Interests

A Register of Interests of executive and non-executive board members is held centrally and is
reviewed regularly with the opportunity for updates at each Board meeting. The register can
be viewed on the AiB website.
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The Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

The Accountable Officer’s responsibilities

Under section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, the Scottish 
Ministers have directed AiB to prepare, for each financial year, a statement of accounts in the 
form of, and on the basis set out in, the Accounts Direction at Appendix A.

The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of Accountant in Bankruptcy and of its income and expenditure, changes in taxpayers’
equity and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable
Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial
Reporting Manual and in particular to:

● observe the Accounts Direction issued by
the Scottish Ministers, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis

● make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis

● state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed and disclose and explain any material departures
in the financial statements

● prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

The Principal Accountable Officer of the Scottish Government has designated the Chief
Executive as Accountable Officer of AiB. The responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are set
out in the Memorandum to Accountable Officers issued by Scottish Ministers and include
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding AiB’s assets.

As Accountable Officer I confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the Agency’s auditors are unaware, and I have taken all steps I ought to have taken to
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish the Agency’s auditors are
aware of this information.

I also confirm this annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable
and that I take personal responsibility for this annual report and accounts and the judgements
required for determining it are fair, balanced and understandable.
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Governance Statement
Scope of responsibility

As Accountable Officer of Accountant in
Bankruptcy (AiB), I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of risk
management and internal control. This
system supports the achievement of the
Agency’s policies, aims and objectives set by
the Scottish Ministers, whilst safeguarding the
public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible.

In the discharge of these personal responsibilities, I ensure organisational compliance with the
Scottish Public Finance Manual. This manual is issued by the Scottish Ministers to provide guidance
to the Scottish Government and other relevant bodies on the proper handling and reporting of
public funds. It sets out the relevant statutory, parliamentary and administrative requirements,
emphasises the need for economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and promotes good practice and
high standards of propriety.

Governance framework

During 2016-17, I was supported by five non-executive board members and one other internal
executive director who together formed the Advisory Board.

The Advisory Board, which met four times during the 2016-17 year, was supported by two sub
committees. These sub committees were:

● the Audit Committee which met quarterly
● the Policy and Cases Committee which met three times

In addition to the above, quarterly meetings were held throughout the year with the Agency’s Fraser
Figure, the Director of Economic Development at the Scottish Government who is responsible for
facilitating relations between the Agency and the Scottish Government.

Risk assessment

All bodies to which the Scottish Public Finance Manual is directly applicable must operate a risk
management strategy in accordance with relevant guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers. The
general principles for a successful risk management strategy are set out in the manual.

The Agency maintains a corporate risk register which records internal and external risks and
identifies the mitigating actions required to reduce the threat of these risks occurring and their
impact. The corporate risk register is regularly updated and reviewed at quarterly meetings between
all branch risk register owners. Each individual risk is allocated an owner who ensures that any
mitigating action is carried out.
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The principal risks for the year to 31 March 2017 related to:

● stakeholder engagement – focus on taking action (based on policy reviews of DAS and
PTDs) that meets AiB’s stakeholder expectations. Modernisation of corporate insolvency
legislation to meet the requirements and demands of the sector

● ensuring capacity to deliver services and statutory functions – as an Executive Agency of
the Scottish Government, AiB must adhere to the recruitment policies set centrally. Due to
AiB's location and recent changes to the promotion policy, there is an on-going challenge
in recruiting to and retaining staff in certain specialist posts

● delivery of service improvements to meet all user expectations following on from
introduction of new legislation and IT systems

● income realisation and living within budget – securing the resources necessary to deliver
services

● ensuring procurement requirements are fully met in AiB’s contracting and best value
achieved in procuring key services for the Agency

Risk registers were also used for specific projects as a management control tool
to ensure successful outcomes. These provided a mechanism to report risks to the
project management board for assessment and to escalate high level risks to senior
management should preventative action need to be taken.

The Agency follows Scottish Government policy on information security and has a
Senior Information Risk Owner and Information Asset Owners in place to manage risk to
information. One issue was identified through 2016-17 but did not require reporting to the
information commissioner (2015-16: one minor issue which did not require reporting to the
information commissioner). Improvement actions were nevertheless implemented to prevent
future recurrences of any personal data related incidents.

Risk and control framework

The Agency’s risk and control mechanism is based on an on-going process designed to identify
the principal risks to the achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives; to
evaluate the nature and extent of those risks and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.

The process within the organisation accords with guidance from the Scottish Ministers provided
in the Scottish Public Finance Manual and has been in place for the year ended 31 March 2017
and up to the date of the approval of the annual report and accounts.

I have continually reviewed the Agency’s capacity to manage risks during the course of the year.
The Board met regularly to assess and manage the risks identified in the corporate risk register.
The Audit Committee, chaired by an independent non-executive board member, has taken a lead
role in ensuring the risk management strategy functioned adequately.
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More generally, the Agency is committed to a process of continuous development
and improvement, creating systems in response to any relevant reviews and
emerging best practice in this area. Following completion of actions from the 2014-15 Best Value
plan, AiB has commenced a new Best Value review aimed at enhancing AiB’s culture of continuous
improvement. This will continue through 2017-18. Best Value actions are in line with best practice
standards developed by Audit Scotland and are under continuous monitoring and review.

Review of effectiveness

As Accountable Officer, I have had responsibility over the past year for reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk and control framework. This review has been informed by:

● the business managers within the organisation who develop and maintain the risk and control
framework

● the work of AiB’s internal auditors who submitted regular reports to the Agency’s Audit
Committee. These reports and the annual audit assurance report issued on 10 May 2017
provide an independent and objective ‘substantial assurance’ on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Agency’s systems of risk management and internal control together with
recommendations for improvement

● comments made by Audit Scotland in their management letters and other reports

● comments made by Grant Thornton in their management letters and other reports

● assurances provided by the Chair of the Audit Committee

● the risk register in place for all critical elements of operations, which is reviewed by business
managers at quarterly intervals

● regular reports on the management of key project risks

● information provided by the core financial systems of the Scottish Government which the
Agency used and relied upon to carry out accounting and payment functions and some
procurement of goods and services

The risk and control framework has been designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve the organisation’s policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Assurance on the maintenance and review of internal control systems was provided by each of the
Agency’s Senior Management Team who each submitted an annual certificate of assurance
covering their areas. No significant control issues were identified for the 2016-17 financial year or
the period up to the signing of the accounts and I am satisfied the overall operation of
governance requirements at AiB is highly satisfactory.
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Remuneration and staff reports

Remuneration report

Remuneration policy

The remuneration of all the Agency’s management and employees is set by the Scottish
Government under its standard terms and conditions of employment. Board remuneration and
pension benefits are contained within this Remuneration Report.

The minimum and maximum levels for each pay band are set each year by the Government,
taking into account the recommendations of the Senior Salaries Review Body.

Service contracts

The Constitutional Reform and Governance Act 2010 requires Civil Service appointments to be
made on merit on the basis of fair and open competition. The recruitment principles published
by the Civil Service Commission specify the circumstances when appointments may be made
otherwise.

Unless otherwise stated below, the officials covered by this report hold appointments which are
open-ended. Early termination, other than for misconduct, would result in the individual
receiving compensation as set out in the Civil Service Compensation Scheme.

Further information about the work of the Civil Service Commission can be found at
www.civilservicecommission.org.uk.

The following sections of this report are subject to audit.

Consultancy costs and other off-payroll costs

There were no associated costs for the reporting period 2016-17.

Staff costs

The aggregate payroll costs for all AiB staff were as follows:
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2016-17 2015-16
£’000 £’000

Senior Management 456 565
Other Permanent Staff 4,019 3,895
Contingent / fixed term appointment 139 226
Inward secondments 89 59

4,703 4,745

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/review-body-on-senior-salaries
www.civilservicecommission.org.uk
http://www.civilservicecommission.org.uk/
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Single total figure for remuneration
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2016-17 2015-16

Salary

£’000

Pension

Benefits 6

£

Total

£’000

Salary

£’000

Pension

Benefits 6

£

Total

£’000

Richard Dennis
Chief Executive

70-75 35-40 105-110 75-80 25-30 100-110

Rosemary Winter-Scott 1
Chief Executive

- - -

10-15

(70-75 full
year

equivalent) 95-100

100-110

(170-180 full
year

equivalent)

John Cook
Executive Director of Case
Operations

65-70 50-55 115-120 60-65 45-50 100-110

Yvonne MacDermid
Non-Executive Board
Member

0-5 - 0-5 0-5 - 0-5

Donna McKenzie Skene 2

Non-Executive Board
Member

- - - 0-5 - 0-5

Kate Dunlop
Non-Executive Board
Member

0-5 - 0-5 0-5 – 0-5

Bryan Jackson 3
Non-Executive Board
Member

0-5 - 0-5 - - -

Laurie Manson 4
Non-Executive Board
Member

0-5 - 0-5 - - -

Mike Norris 5
Non-Executive Board
Member

0-5 - 0-5 0 0

-

Notes
1. Rosemary Winter Scott left the Agency on 30 April 2015.
2. The appointment of Donna McKenzie Skene ended on the 31 January 2016.
3. Bryan Jackson was appointed to the Advisory Board in May 2016.
4. Laurie Manson was appointed to the Advisory Board in May 2016.
5. Mike Norris was appointed to the Advisory Board in February 2017. He undertakes this role on a voluntary basis and does not claim any fees.
6. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in any
lump sum) less (the contributions made by the individual). The real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases due to a
transfer of pension rights.
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Pension benefits

The Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)

This is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a
member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and
any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a
pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the pension benefits
they have accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total service, not just their current
appointment. CETVs are calculated in accordance with The Occupational Pension Schemes
(Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 and do not take account of any actual or
potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when
pension benefits are taken.

The real increase in the value of the CETV

This is the element of the increase in accrued pension funded by the Exchequer. It excludes
increases due to inflation and contributions paid. It is worked out using common market
valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Table of executive pension benefits
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Accrued pension
at pension age as

at 31/3/17 and
related lump sum

£’000

Real increase in
pension and

related lump sum
at pension age

£’000

CETV at
31/3/17

£’000

CETV at
31/3/16

£’000

Real increase in
CETV

£’000

Richard Dennis 20-25 plus lump
sum of 55-60

0-2.5 plus lump
sum of 0-2.5

415 378 18

John Cook 25-30 plus lump
sum of 35-40

2.5-5 plus a lump
sum of 0-2.5

472 419 34

Rosemary
Winter Scott * - - - 361 -

* Rosemary Winter Scott left the Agency on 30 April 2015
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Pensions

Civil Service Pensions

Pension benefits are provided through the Civil Service pension arrangements. From 1 April
2015 a new pension scheme for civil servants was introduced – the Civil Servants and Others
Pension Scheme or alpha, which provides benefits on a career average basis with a normal
pension age equal to the member’s State Pension Age (or 65 if higher). From that date all
newly appointed civil servants and the majority of those already in service joined alpha. Prior
to that date, civil servants participated in the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS).
The PCSPS has four sections: three providing benefits on a final salary basis (classic, premium
or classic plus) with a normal pension age of 60, and one providing benefits on a whole career
basis (nuvos) with a normal pension age of 65.

These statutory arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by monies voted by
Parliament each year. Pensions payable under classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos and alpha
are increased annually in line with Pensions Increase legislation. Existing members of the PCSPS
who were within 10 years of their normal pension age on 1 April 2012 remained in the PCSPS
after 1 April 2015. Those who were between 10 years and 13 years and 5 months from their
normal pension age on 1 April 2012 will switch into alpha sometime between 1 June 2015 and
1 February 2022. All members who switch to alpha have their PCSPS benefits ‘banked’, with
those with earlier benefits in one of the final salary sections of the PCSPS having those benefits
based on their final salary when they leave alpha. (The pension figures quoted for officials
show pension earned in PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate. Where the official has benefits in
both the PCSPS and alpha the figure quoted is the combined value of their benefits in the two
schemes.) Members joining from October 2002 may opt for either the appropriate defined
benefit arrangement or a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension with an employer contribution
(partnership pension account).

Employee contributions are salary-related and range between 3.80% and 8.05% of pensionable
earnings for members of classic (and members of alpha who were members of classic
immediately before joining alpha) and between 4.6% and 8.05% for members of premium,
classic plus, nuvos and all other members of alpha.

Phasing of contribution changes for some members

Current members of classic who earned between £47,000 and £50,000, saw an increase of
2.08% in the contributions they paid from 2015-16, compared to 2014-15.

From April 2017 this pay band will increase to start at earnings over £50,000, which will mean
that members earning between £47,000 and £50,000 will fall into the lower pay band, and pay
a lower level of contribution.

Members of classic, earning £15,000 or less, paid a protected rate of 1.5% until April 2015. They
will now see a gradual increase in their contributions to bring them in line with other scheme
members.



42

This increase will be brought in over three years, starting from April 2015.

● April 2015 contributions increased to 3.00%
● April 2016 contribution increase to 3.80%
● April 2017 contribution increase to 4.60%

Changes to National Insurance Contributions

In April 2016, contracting-out of the State Second Pension ended. This meant that employees
National Insurance contributions increased, but their Civil Service Pensions contribution rate is
unaffected.

Pension benefits

Benefits in classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of final pensionable earnings for each year of service.
In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years initial pension is payable on retirement. For
premium, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final pensionable earnings for each year of
service. Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump sum. classic plus is essentially a hybrid with
benefits for service before 1 October 2002 calculated broadly as per classic and benefits for service
from October 2002 worked out as in premium. In nuvos a member builds up a pension based on
his pensionable earnings during their period of scheme membership. At the end of the scheme year
(31 March) the member’s earned pension account is credited with 2.3% of their pensionable
earnings in that scheme year and the accrued pension is uprated in line with Pensions Increase
legislation. Benefits in alpha build up in a similar way to nuvos, except that the accrual rate is
2.32%. In all cases, members may opt to give up (commute) pension for a lump sum up to the limits
set by the Finance Act 2004.

The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement. The employer makes a
basic contribution of between 8% and 14.75% (depending on the age of the member) into a
stakeholder pension product chosen by the employee from a panel of providers. The employee
does not have to contribute, but where they do make contributions, the employer will match these
up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the employer’s basic contribution).
Employers also contribute a further 0.8% of pensionable salary up to 30 September 2015 and 0.5%
of pensionable salary from 1 October 2015 to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover
(death in service and ill health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when they reach
pension age, or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the scheme if they are already
at or over pension age. Pension age is 60 for members of classic, premium and classic plus, 65 for
members of nuvos, and the higher of 65 or State Pension Age for members of alpha. (The pension
figures quoted for officials show pension earned in PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate. Where the
official has benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha the figure quoted is the combined value of their
benefits in the two schemes, but note that part of that pension may be payable from different
ages.)

Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the website
www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk.
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Compensation for loss of office

This value was nil for 2016-17.

Fair pay disclosure

AiB has demonstrated it is one of the best places
to work in Scotland and holds Living Wage
Employer accreditation.

This means every member of AiB staff earns not
just the minimum wage, but the Living Wage.
Recent independent research has highlighted a
number of benefits of the Living Wage to both
staff and employers, including productivity,
reduced absenteeism and better staff morale.

The current £8.45 rate, paid to all workers aged over 18 at organisations which are part of the
voluntary scheme, is £1.75 an hour more than the national minimum wage for those aged 21-24
and £1.25 an hour more for those aged 25 and older. Contracted staff will also be paid the Living
Wage. When a contract with AiB is up for renewal or tender, it will actively encourage contractors to
consider implementing the Living Wage if they haven't already done so.

AiB, as part of the Scottish Government, is expected to apply the Living Wage as a gross salary,
equivalent of at least £16,258. The current lowest salary across the Scottish Government is £17,242.

You can find out more about the Living Wage by visiting here.

Pay multiples

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Manual, reporting bodies are required to disclose the
relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the
median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The ratio between the median salary and the mid-point of the highest salary decreased to 3.0 in
2016-17. The median remuneration of the workforce was £23,383 in 2015-16.

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and benefits-in-
kind. It does not include employee pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer values of
pensions.

Part 2 – The Accountability Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Minimum Median Highest mid-point 2016-17 ratio 2015-16 ratio

£18,412 £24,405 £72,500 3.0 3.3

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/
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Benefits in kind

The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the Agency and treated by
HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument. There were no benefits in kind within 2016-17
(2015-16 - £nil).

Bonuses

Bonuses are based on performance levels attained and are made as part of the appraisal process.
Bonuses relate to the performance in the year in which they become payable to the individual. The
bonuses reported in 2016-17 relate to performance in 2016-17 and the comparative bonuses
reported for 2015-16 relate to the performance in 2015-16.

There were no bonuses within 2016-17 (2015-16 - £nil).

.
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Staff reports

AiB people

Staff are AiB’s most valuable assets.
During the reporting year, AiB
continued to invest in its staff by
offering access to work-related
professional qualifications and by
initiating a programme to increase
engagement levels in response to the
annual staff survey.

AiB presently has Investors in People
Gold accreditation. In April 2017, AiB staff took part in the second assessment of a three year rolling
assessment programme, under the new sixth generation assessment criteria. The report once again
recognised quality learning and development across the Agency. The feedback also noted a
decrease in the Agency’s people resource, but found that this has not had a negative impact on the
achievement of its key strategic priorities/targets. With one assessment left, AiB is on target to
retain its Investors in People Gold accreditation.

AiB also holds a Healthy Working Lives Gold accreditation. The next assessment of this accreditation
is due in November 2017.

AiB participates in the annual UK Civil Service People Survey, which measures attitudes and
opinions to work. The latest survey was conducted in October 2016 and delivered an engagement
index of 59 per cent from a participation rate of 85 per cent. This engagement score is on par with
the Civil Service average engagement score. AiB performed well in terms of its overall staff
engagement and is in the top five for completion rate and seventh for overall engagement index
compared to other Scottish Government agencies and delivery bodies. In light of a substantial
period of change, AiB maintained a high level of engagement. The main highlights identified in the
report are good line management, team work, AiB’s commitment to offering fulfilling work and
learning and development.

Staff numbers by permanent and other

Total full time equivalent staff

The Agency’s staffing complement over the past three years was:

* The 124.4 figure includes one inward loan which is paid through AiB payroll. In terms of the Scottish Government
monitoring headcount the full time equivalent is 123.4.
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Headcount Full time equivalent

As at 31 March 2017 145 124.4*

As at 31 March 2016 154 127.3

As at 31 March 2015 165 133.6
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Staff turnover for AiB permanent staff for the reporting period was 2.81 per cent. This was due to
four permanent members of staff leaving during the year and eight contingent or fixed-term
employees reaching the end of their contracts. A further four members of staff left the Agency for
other Scottish Government departments.

Of the 16 leavers:

● 4 moved to another Scottish Government department
● 1 transferred to a UK government department
● 1 resignation
● 1 ill health retirement
● 1 death in service
● 1 inward secondee returned to their home department
● 7 contingent workers reached the end of their contract

The Agency recruited nine new members of staff (including contingent workers) during the year.
This figure includes the two inward secondees and one inward loan. Since the last report three
Modern Apprentices have successfully completed their qualification and secured full-time
positions in AiB.

The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed (including senior
management) was as follows:

* some totals do not tally due to rounding
** includes one member of staff who is an inward loan
*** short term cover by contingent worker
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Branch Senior
management

Other
permanent
staff

Contingent
workers and
fixed term
appointme
nts

Staff on
inward
secondment

Total*

number

2016-17

Total*

number

2015-16

Case
Operations 3.0 75.3 1.5 0 79.8 88.1

Chief
Executive
Office

1.0 0 0 0 1.0 1.1

Corporate
Services 1.7 21.9 1.9 0 25.5 27.0

Policy and
Compliance 1.0   17.5**     0.2*** 1.9 20.6 22.8

Total* 6.7 114.7 3.6 1.9 126.8 138.9



47

Breakdown by gender

The gender breakdown for headcount of permanent and temporary staff by grade as at 31 March
2017 was as follows:
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Pay band Female Male
Band A 34 16
Band B 58 26
Band C 1 4
Contingency workers and
secondments

2 3

SCS 0 1
Total 95 50

Sickness absence

The average working days lost have decreased during the reporting period from 8.80 days to
8.70 days. This is higher than the Scottish Government figure of 7.44 days.

Policies in relation to disabled persons

Pay band 2016-17 2015-16
Average number of disabled
employees in year*

7 7

* It is not mandatory for staff to declare a disability. The figures above are only where a disability has been informed to
the Scottish Government’s Human Resources department. 78 staff state not to have a disability and the status of 52 staff is
unknown.

As an Agency of the Scottish Government, AiB follows relevant disability policy and adheres to
requirements of The Equality Act 2010.

Positive policies are in place in relation to disabled employees.  Special facilities are provided where
necessary and equal opportunities legislation fully complied with.

Exit packages

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the Superannuation Act 1972. Exit
costs are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the Agency has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met in full by the Agency and not by the Civil Service pension
scheme. Ill health retirement costs are met by the pension scheme.

Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes – exit packages

In 2016-17 there were no exit packages or compensation schemes for departing staff (2015-16 - £nil).



48

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Please note that the Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report is not subject to audit.

Losses statement

Fees charged to sequestrated estates not able to be recovered totalled £1.7m (2015-16 - £2.7m).
This is considered a ‘constructive loss’ in line with the Scottish Public Finance Manual’s definition.
There were no individual cases with a constructive loss over £300,000 (2015-16 – nil). There were
2,327 cases (2015-16 – 3,662 cases) which incurred some level of constructive loss.

Fees/charges

Page 14 of the Performance Analysis provides detail on how AiB recovers fees from bankruptcy.

AiB has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in SG Public Finance
Manual.

Remote contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities that meet the disclosure requirements in IAS37 are included in the Notes to
the Accounts. AiB also reports any liabilities for which the likelihood of a transfer of economic
benefit in settlement is too remote to meet the definition of contingent liability. There are
currently no remote contingent liabilities.

Long-term expenditure trends

The following chart outlines the total expenditure of the Agency over the previous nine years with
annual spend fluctuating between £11.3 million and £12.8 million.  Over this period, expenditure
has been funded by a combination of statutory income and Scottish Government funding. There
has been a reducing requirement for government funding as the Agency has moved towards full
cost recovery. Following three successive years of full cost recovery, 2016-17 saw AiB requiring
some Scottish Government funding. This was a culmination of various factors including a
reduction in cases closing and a reduction in funds in those cases, a slight increase in
sequestration costs, and non-cash costs going up as a result of additional investment in IT
systems.
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Dr Richard Dennis
Accountable Officer

07 August 2017
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Independent auditor’s report to The Accountant in
Bankruptcy, the Auditor General for Scotland and the
Scottish Parliament
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with
paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland, we
do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or
to third parties.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of Accountant in
Bankruptcy for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Public Finance and Accountability
(Scotland) Act 2000. The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position, the
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 Government Financial
Reporting Manual (the 2016/17 FReM).

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:

● give a true and fair view in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland)
Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state of the body's
affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;

● have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as
interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 FReM; and

● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.
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Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing
in the UK and Ireland (ISAs (UK&I)). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the body in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Accountable
Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable legal requirements and ISAs (UK&I) as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved
by the Auditor General for Scotland. Those standards require us to comply with the Financial
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This
includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the body's
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK&I) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Other information in the annual report and accounts

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report and accounts.
The other information comprises the information other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters
prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland to the extent explicitly stated later in this report.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK&I), our
responsibility is to read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report and
accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Report on regularity of expenditure and income

Opinion on regularity

In our opinion in all material respects:

● the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred or applied in accordance
with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers, the Budget
(Scotland) Act covering the financial year and sections 4 to 7 of the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000; and

● the sums paid out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund for the purpose of meeting the expenditure
shown in the financial statements were applied in accordance with section 65 of the Scotland Act
1998.

Responsibilities for regularity

The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. We
are responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance
with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Report on other requirements

Opinions on other prescribed matters

We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to express an opinion on the following matters.

In our opinion, the auditable part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared
in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

● the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been
prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers; and
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● the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report
has been prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act
2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in our opinion:

● adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

● the financial statements and the auditable part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are
not in agreement with the accounting records; or

● we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Gareth Kelly, for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP

110 Queen Street
Glasgow
G1 3BX

Part 2 – The Accountability Report

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17



54

Part 3 Financial
Statements

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17



55

Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the
year ended 31 March 2017

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17 Part 3 - Financial Statements

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.

The 2015-16 figures have been restated to reflect a prior period adjustment outlined in note 1.5
in the notes to the accounts.

2016-17

2015-16

(re-stated)

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Programme costs

Expenditure
Staff costs 3 4,703 4,745
Other operating costs 2 2,138 2,232
Direct sequestration costs 1.5, 2 4,613 3,899
Non-cash expenditure 2 1,200 864

Total expenditure 12,654 11,740
Total operating income 1.5, 4 (12,250) (12,408)
Net operating cost/(surplus) 134 (668)
Net (gain)/loss on
revaluation/indexation of
property, plant and equipment 5 1 (2)

Total comprehensive
expenditure/(income) for
the year ended 31 March
2017 135 (670)
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The Accountable Officer authorised these statements for issue on 7 August 2017.

Dr Richard Dennis
Accountable Officer
7 August 2017

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17 Part 3 - Financial Statements

Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017

Note
31 March

2017
£’000

31 March
2016

(re-stated)
£’000

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 5 559 218
Intangible assets 6 2,653 2,877

Total non-current assets 3,212 3,095

Current assets:
Trade receivables and other current assets 7 995 1,427
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,879 1,452

Total current assets 2,874 2,879

Total assets 6,086 5,974

Current liabilities:

Trade payables and other current liabilities 9 (1,290) (1,800)

Provisions 12 (0) (0)

Total current liabilities (1,290) (1,800)

Non-current assets plus net current assets 4,796 4,174

Non-current liabilities:
Other liabilities 9 (143) (160)
Total non-current liabilities (143) (160)

Assets less liabilities 4,653 4,014
Taxpayers' equity
General fund SOCTE 4,526 3,886
Revaluation reserve SOCTE 127 128

Total taxpayers' equity 4,653 4,014



57

*Capital accruals of £127k (2015-16 £239k) have been excluded from the purchase of property,
plant & equipment and intangible assets

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2017

   2015-16
     2016-17      (re-stated)

     Note     £’000      £’000
Cash flows from operating activities

Net operating surplus/(cost)                                                                      (134)                  668
Adjust for non-cash transactions                                    2                         1,200                  864
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables        10   431                    71
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables*          10 (653)                (767)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12                              0                     0
Net cash outflow from operating activities                                                  844                 836

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment*  5                         (305)                 (84)
Purchase of intangible assets*  6    (844)             (1,322)
Net cash outflow from investing activities   (1,149)            (1,408)

Cash flows from financial activities

From Scottish Consolidated Fund        SOCTE      732          234

Net financing 732         234

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash            427          (336)
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the   8       1,452       1,788
period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  8 1,879              1,452
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31
March 2017

General Revaluation Total

fund reserve

Note £’000 £’000 £’000
Balance at 1 April 20166 3,886                128 4,014

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of
property, plant and equipment      5               -           (1)        (1)
Non-cash charges - auditor’s remuneration 2  42                   -  42

Net operating cost for the year (134)                  -                (134)

Parliamentary funding   732                  - 732

Balance at 31 March 2017                                                           4,526               127             4,653

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31
March 2016 (re-stated)

General Revaluation Total

Note £’000 £’000 £’000
Balance at 1 April 2015 2,942 126 3,068

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of
property, plant and equipment      5     -    2    2

Non-cash charges - auditor’s remuneration 2  42                    -                  42

Net operating cost for the year                         668 -                668
Parliamentary funding  234 -                234

Balance at 31 March 2016                                                           3,886                128            4,014
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Notes to the Accounts

Accountant in Bankruptcy
Annual Accounts 2016-17

1.  Accounting policies

1.1  Authority

In accordance with the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers under section 19(4) of the
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 these accounts have been prepared in
compliance with the principles and disclosure requirements of the Government Financial Reporting
Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury, which follows International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate in the public sector. They have been applied consistently in dealing
with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The accounting policies, and where necessary estimation
techniques, selected are done so in accordance with the principles set out in International
Accounting Standard 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. These
accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

1.2  Accounting convention

These accounts are prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

1.3  Accounting standards issued but not adopted

IAS8 requires disclosure of information relating to the impact of an accounting change that will be
required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted.

The standards that are considered relevant and the anticipated impact on the consolidated
accounts are as follows:

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

This standard was issued in November 2014, and is effective from 1 January 2018.  The adoption of
this standard could change the classification and measurement of financial assets. The
interpretation for the public sector is still under consideration and the impact has not been
determined.
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IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

This standard came into effect from 1 April 15, with the purpose of defining fair value and providing
guidance on fair value measurement techniques. Although IFRS 13 applies to public sector bodies
without adaption, IAS16 and IAS38 have been adapted and interpreted for the public sector context
to limit the circumstances in which a valuation is prepared under IFRS 13.

IFRS 16 – Leases

This standard has been created to harmonise the rules regarding leases between IASB and the FASB
in the United States. It will supersede the existing IAS 17 but won’t come into effect until January
2019. The extent to which the new standard will apply to the public sector has not been fully
interpreted yet by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.

1.4  Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

In applying the accounting policies the Agency has had to make certain judgements about complex
transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. Critical judgements have been
made in respect of income and expenditure accruals in relation to fees paid out to agents who
administer bankruptcy cases on our behalf. As a proportion of these fees are charged at the
beginning of the case and a proportion at the end assumptions have been made about the average
case length as well as the amount that will be recovered by the Agency in respect of these charges.
Assumptions are based on relevant historical information.

For the financial year 2016-17 a sum of £627k has been accrued in relation to estimated  fees due to
be paid out to agents. This estimate is based on 70% of their initial basic fee falling due within the
first six months of a case being allocated to them with 30% of these fees due over the remaining
length of the case. It has been assumed that this final fee is paid at some point over the next 22
months based on the historic average length of a case which can range from 1 year to around 10
years to close. Assumptions have also been made in relation to the commissions paid out to agents
based on an average per case.

Applying a plus or minus three month tolerance, the impact of calculating the accrual based on
cases closing after 25 months would increase operational expenditure by £83k. If the accrual is
based on cases closing after 19 months total operational expenditure would decrease by £98k.

Within total income a figure of £453k has been included as an estimate of future recoveries due
back from bankruptcy cases in respect of the above. The income estimate has assumed that 72% of
fees will be recovered and repaid to the public purse. A 2% change in the percentage of costs that
can be recovered would increase/decrease income by £12k.

Averages have been used in the calculation of employee benefits as staff within the same pay band
are at different points on the relevant pay scale due to the application of annual increments based
on performance.
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1.5  Prior Period adjustment

In line with the accounting standard IAS8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors, a prior period adjustment should be made in respect of material mathematical errors.
During the year a material error was identified in the formula used to calculate income and
expenditure accruals for provider fees  which had resulted in an over-accrual of expenditure and
income. In accordance with IAS8 this error has been corrected and the 2015-16 accounts have been
re-stated. The impact on the 2015-16 accounts is that expenditure has decreased by £479k as a
result of lower direct sequestration costs. Income has also decreased by £329k as a result of lower
repayments to the public purse being accrued. Within the statement of financial position as at 31
March 2016 the trade receivables and other current assets figure has been reduced by £329k and
the trade payables and other current liabilities figure has reduced by £479k resulting in an increase
to the general fund and the total taxpayers equity of £150k. These adjustments have also been
reflected in the 2015-16 comparators within the relevant notes to the accounts.

1.6   Revenue

Operating income is income which relates directly to the operating activities of the agency. It
comprises statutory fees recovered from bankruptcy cases, fees for debtor and creditor applications
for a bankruptcy and fees in relation to registering, advertising and supervising protected trust
deeds. It also comprises fees for the administration of the debt arrangement scheme and other
miscellaneous income.

All Income from statutory fees in relation to the administration, audit and supervision of trustees
are measured in accordance with IAS18. They are measured at the fair value of the amounts
received and receivable. All revenue is recognised at the date of the event giving rise to the fee.

Income in respect of the recovery of case related statutory fees and outlays is also measured at the
fair value of the amounts received and receivable. The Agency uses accounting estimates and
judgements regarding the amounts recoverable from sequestration cases based on volumes of
cases, forecast fees and outlays and an estimate of the proportion of cases which will result in
recovery of costs.

1.7  Property, plant and equipment

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:

● it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes

● it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the
Agency

● it is expected to be used for more than one financial year

● the cost of the item can be measured reliably
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All assets falling into the following categories are capitalised:

● furniture, fittings & equipment and vehicles which are capable of being used for a period which
could exceed one year, and have a cost equal to or greater than £5,000

● Information and Communications Technology (ICT) systems are capitalised where they form part
of a group of similar assets purchased at approximately the same time and cost over £1,000 in
total

● significant improvements to leasehold properties will be capitalised where the total cost of the
group of assets is equal to or over £5,000

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly
different asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets
and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Measurement

Valuation

In line with Scottish Government, all property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at
cost, representing the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing
it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management.

Other plant and equipment assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both) are reported
on a depreciated historic cost basis as a proxy for fair value.

Assets under construction are valued at current cost. This is calculated by the expenditure incurred
to which an appropriate index is applied to arrive at current value. Assets under construction are
also subject to impairment review.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised into an asset’s carrying value where it is probable the future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Agency and the cost can be reliably
measured. Where subsequent expenditure does not meet these criteria, the expenditure is charged
to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure. If part of an asset is replaced, then the part it
replaces is de-recognised, regardless of whether or not it has been depreciated separately.
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Revaluations and impairment

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except
where they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive net
expenditure, in which case they are recognised as income.

Movements on revaluation are considered for individual assets rather than groups or land/buildings
together.

Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that
there is an available balance for the asset concerned and thereafter are charged to the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value over their
remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or
service delivery benefits.

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis on each main class of property, plant and
equipment as follows:

1.8 Intangible  assets
Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being
sold separately from the rest of the Agency’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal
rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or
service potential will be provided to, the Agency and where the cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are capitalised where they are capable of being
used in the Agency’s activities for more than one year and they have a cost of at least £1,000.

The Agency’s main class of capitalised intangible assets are purchased intangible assets on bespoke
case management systems. Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the
following can be demonstrated:

● the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset
for sale or use
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3 to 10 years

ICT equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years or life of lease term if shorter
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● the Agency intends to complete the asset and sell or use it

● the Agency has the ability to sell or use the asset

● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g.
the presence of a market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the
usefulness of the asset

● adequate financial, technical and
other resources are available to the
Agency to complete the
development and sell or use the
asset

● the Agency can measure reliably the
expenses attributable to the asset
during development

Expenditure capitalised in line with the
above is limited to the value of
probable future economic benefits.

Measurement

Valuation

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Where an active (homogeneous) market
exists, intangible assets are carried at current value. Where no active market exists, the intangible
asset is revalued, using indices or some suitable model, to the lower of depreciated replacement
cost and the value in use where the asset is income generating. Where there is no value in use, the
intangible asset is valued using depreciated replacement cost. These measures are a proxy for fair
value.

Revaluations and impairment

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except
where they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive net
expenditure, in which case they are recognised as income.

Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that
there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure.

Intangible assets held for sale are reclassified to ‘non-current assets held for sale’ measured at the
lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less cost to sell’.
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Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised to their estimated residual value over their remaining useful
economic lives in a manner that is consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery
benefits.

Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis to the statement of comprehensive net
expenditure on each of the main class of intangible assets as follows:

1.9  Sale of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and non-current assets held for
sale

Disposal of non-current assets is accounted for as a reduction to the value of assets equal to the net
book value of the assets disposed. When set against any sales proceeds, the resulting gain or loss
on disposal will be recorded in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure. Non-current
assets held for sale will include assets transferred from other categories and will reflect any resultant
changes in valuation.

1.10  Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. Where an asset is not held for the purpose of generating cash flows, value in use is
assumed to equal the cost of replacing the service potential provided by the asset, unless there has
been a reduction in service potential. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment.
Impairment losses charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure are deducted from
future operating costs to the extent that they are identified as being reversed in subsequent
revaluations.

1.11  Leasing

Operating leases

All Agency leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to expenditure on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the
lease rentals and charged to expenditure over the life of the lease.
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1.12  Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the year in which the service is
received from employees. The cost of annual leave and flexible working time entitlement earned but
not taken by employees at the end of the year is recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following year.

Pension costs

Present and past employees are covered by the provisions of the Principal Civil Service Pension
Scheme (PCSPS) which is a defined benefit scheme and is unfunded. The Agency recognises the
expected cost of providing pensions for their employees on a systematic and rational basis over the
period during which they benefit from their services by payment to the PCSPS of amounts
calculated on an accruing basis. Relevant disclosures are reported in the remuneration report.
Liability for the payment of future benefits is a charge to the PCSPS.

In respect of the defined contribution schemes, the Agency recognises the contributions payable for
the year.

1.13  Financial instruments

Cash requirements for AiB are met through the Scottish Government and therefore Financial
Instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply within a non-
public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to Receivables and Payables incurred
through the normal operational activities of the Agency. The Agency is therefore exposed to little
credit, liquidity or market risk.

Financial assets

The Agency classifies its financial assets in the following three categories: at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

Financial Assets held by AiB have been classified as loans and receivables or cash. Loans and
receivables comprise trade and other receivables.

Loans and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.

Financial liabilities

The Agency classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
liabilities were issued. Management determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.
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Financial liabilities of the Agency consist of Trade and other Payables and are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

1.14  Related party transactions

Material related party transactions are disclosed in line with the requirements of IAS 24.

1.15  Provisions

The Agency provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at
the balance sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated cash flows are
discounted using the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury.

1.16  Value added tax

Most of the chargeable activities undertaken by the Agency are outside the scope of VAT. Where
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. Irrecoverable
VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets.

1.17  Segmental reporting

AiB reports on one single core segment which represents the principle objective of the
administration and monitoring of statutory debt management and debt relief solutions in Scotland.

1.18  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and any other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank
overdrafts. Any bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance
sheet.

1.19  Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as consignation and sequestration funds) are not
recognised in the accounts since the Agency has no beneficial interest in them.  However, they are
disclosed in a separate note to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the FReM.
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2016-17 2015-16

£’000 £’000

(a) Other operating costs

Travel & subsistence 21 25

Accommodation* 606 579

General administration 1,511 1,628

2,138 2,232

(b) Direct sequestration costs

Insolvency agents’ administration fees 3,364 2,781

Legal fees    653    717

Other sequestration outlays    596    401

4,613 3,899

(c) Non cash transactions

Depreciation                                                                                       1,158 822

2. Expenditure analysis

*Included in Accommodation is lease expenditure of £348k for the 2016-17 rental of AiB’s
Kilwinning office
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2016-17                         2015-16
                                              (re-stated)

£’000 £’000

2016-17 2015-16

£’000 £’000

Auditor’s fees                   42        42

1,200      864

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17



69

3. Staff costs
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2016-17 2015-16

£’000 £’000

Wages & salaries 3,465 3,517
Social security costs 316 239
Other pension costs 694 704
Inward secondments 89 59
Contingent/fixed term appointment 139 226

4,703 4,745

4. Operating income

2016-17 2015-16

(Re-stated)
£’000 £’000

Creditor petition application fees 397 364
Debtor application fees 503 395
Repayments to the public purse 6,414 6,360
Trustee audit and other statutory fees 1,906 2,493
Trust deed registration and advertising fees 439 368
Trust deed supervision and audit fees 2,011 1,627
Consignation lodgement and uplift fees 183 165
Data download and discharge certificate fees 44 41
Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) fees 623 595

12,520 12,408
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5. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fittings,

equipment

IT
equipment

Total

Part 3 - Financial Statements
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Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2016 1,124 151 253 1,528
Revaluation 29   29
Additions                                                                   307 41 82 430
Disposals                          (96) (4)          (100)

At 31 March 2017  1,460   96  331  1,887

Depreciation

At 1 April 2016
Provided during year
Backlog depreciation
Disposals

At 31 March 2017

                1,052       109             148     1,309

            33      5      51          89

            30                         30

                   (96)      (4)       (100)

  1,115         18     195       1,328

Net book value

At 31 March 2017 345 78 136 559

At 1 April 2016
71 42 105 218
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Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fittings,

equipment

IT equipment Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000                   £’000           £’000

At 1 April 2015 1,091 109                      186             1,386

Revaluation 14 0                          0                 14

Additions                                                         18                            42                        67                127

At 31 March 2016  1,123  151                     253            1,527

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 930 109                        97            1,136

Provided during year 109 0                        51 160

Backlog depreciation                                      13 0                          0                13

At 31 March 2016

Net book value

At 31 March 2016   71                            42                      105 218

At 1 April 2015 161 0                        89 250

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Note 5 continued

1,052       109       148      1,309
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6. Intangible assets
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Software
licenses

IT software and
development

Websites Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2016 143  5,159 36 5,338
Additions 17 806 20 843
Disposals (46) (355) 0 (401)

At 31 March 2017 114 5,610 56 5,780

Amortisation
At 1 April 2016 100 2,337 22 2,459
Provided during year 22 1,037 10 1,069
Disposals (46) (355) 0 (401)

At 31 March 2017 76 3,019 32 3,127

Net book value

At 31 March 2017 38 2,591 24 2,653

At 1 April 2016 43 2,820 14 2,877

All intangibles assets have been purchased.
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Note 6 continued

Software
licenses

IT software and
development

Websites Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2015 137 3,646 36 3,819
Additions 6 1,512 0 1,518
At 31 March 2016 143 5,158 36 5,337

Amortisation
At 1 April 2015 74 1,712 13 1,799
Provided during year 26 626 9 661
At 31 March 2016 100 2,338 22 2,460

Net book value

At 31 March 2016 43 2,820 14 2,877

At 1 April 2015 63 1,934 23 2,020

All intangibles assets have been purchased.
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7. Receivables

8. Cash and cash equivalents

As all payments and receipts are effected through SEAS, apart from accounts used as the means for
clearing inward payments, no other separate bank accounts are currently held by the Agency other
than those held on behalf of third parties as detailed in Note 14. All bank accounts are held with
commercial banks.

Amounts falling due within 1 year 2016-17 2015-16
                                            (re-stated)

£’000 £’000

(a) Analysis by type

Accrued income    454 835
Prepayments 99   94
Trade receivables 420 478
Other receivables 22 20

   995 1,427

(b) Intra government balances

Balances with other central government bodies   9 12
Balances with local authorities 72 69
Balances with NHS bodies ‑ ‑
Balances with public corporations & trading funds ‑ ‑

Total intra-government balances 81 81

Balances with bodies external to government    914 1,346
    995 1,427

                 2016-17 2015-16

                £’000 £’000

Balance 1 April                 1,452 1,788

Net change in cash balance                   427                            (336)

Balance at 31 March                 1,879                           1,452
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9. Payables

10. Movements in working capital other than cash

Amounts falling due within one year 2016-17 2015-16
                           (re-stated)

£’000 £’000
(a) Analysis by type

Employee benefits accrual 146 144
Other accruals    972 1,617
Deferred income 27 26
Trade payables                                                                                                142 4
Other payables 3   8

1,290 1,799

(b) Intra-government balances

Balances with other central government bodies 3 8
Balances with local authorities -                           -
Balances with NHS bodies -                           -
Balances with public corporations & trading funds -                           -

Subtotal: Intra-government balances 3 8
Balances with bodies external to government 1,287 1,791

1,290 1,799

Amounts falling due after one year 2016-17 2015-16
£’000 £’000

Deferred rent 143 160

143 160

2016-17 2015-16
                                               (re-stated)

£’000 £’000
(Increase)/decrease in receivables   431  71
Increase/(decrease in provisions                                                    (0) (0)
Increase/(decrease) in payables (510) (511)
Less Lease Creditors   (16)   (16)
Less Capital Accruals   (127)  (240)
Sub-total for cash flow statement  (653)                                          (767)

 (222)                                         (696)

Part 3 - Financial Statements

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17



76

11. Financial instruments

2016-17 2015-16
                                  (re-stated)

£’000 £’000
Financial assets

Trade receivables (Note 7) 420 478
Accrued income (Note 7)    454 835

Other receivables (Note 7)     22  20
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8) 1,879 1,452

2,775 2,785

2016-17 2015-16
                                  (re-stated)

£’000 £’000

Financial liabilities

Other accruals (Note 9) 972 1,617
Trade payables (Note 9)                                                                         142  4
Other payables (Note 9)                                                                            3    8

1,117 1,629

Non-close embedded derivatives £nil £nil

Derivative financial instruments £nil £nil
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13. Commitments under operating leases

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are:
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2016-17 2015-16
£’000 £’000

Land and buildings:

Payable not later than 1 year 347                             347

Payable later than 1 year and not later than 5 years    898                          1,245
Payable later than 5 year        0      0

 1,245 1,592

The current lease for AiB’s office in Kilwinning comes to an end in October 2025.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

12 Provisions for liabilities and charges

There were no provisions for liabilities and charges in 2016-17 (2015-16 – nil).
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14. Third party assets

Assets held at 31 March 2016 to which monetary value can be assigned:

Section 111 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 2016 states that in any case where the trustee is
AiB, all money received in the exercise of its functions as trustee must be deposited by AiB in an
interest-bearing account. These mainly comprise of realised assets awaiting distribution to
creditors and repayment to the public purse and money consigned in respect of unclaimed
dividends and unapplied balances. These funds are mainly held within Royal Bank of Scotland
accounts.

Section 150 of the Act states that at the expiry of 7 years from the date of deposit of any
unclaimed dividend or unapplied balance AiB must surrender the funds to the Scottish Ministers.

*Third party funds in transit, are funds which at the year-end had been received but not yet
allocated to a sequestration account or an account for unclaimed dividends and unapplied
balances.
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2016-17

No. of assets
In-house

2016-17

No. of assets
Agent/Provider

2016-17

No. of assets
Total

2015-16

No. of assets
Total

Residential property 47 1,164 1,211 1,267
Life policies 38 396 434 810
Motor vehicles 9 148 157 170
Shares and other
investments

10 143 153 430

Miscellaneous 0 290 290 1,512

Number of other assets held at 31 March 2017:

2016-17 2015-16
£’000 £’000

Sequestration bank balances 27,837 36,963
Third party funds in transit*  89 173
Unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances 16,727 19,072
Total monetary assets 44,653 56,208
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15. Financial/capital commitments

The Agency has entered into contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts) for the supply of
goods and services necessary to effectively deliver its statutory function whilst gaining value for
money. Under the revised definition by the Scottish Government of Financial Commitments,
effective as from 1 April 2008, contracts in the normal course of business do not require disclosure.

AiB has no capital commitments as at 31 March 2017. Contracted capital commitments as at 31
March 2016 were £nil.

16. Contingent liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2017. Contingent liabilities as at 31st March 2015
were £nil.

17. Related party transactions

AiB is an Executive Agency of the Scottish Government. During the year the Agency had various
material transactions with the Scottish Government.

During the year AiB entered into material transactions with Money Advice Scotland, providing
£388k (2015-16 - £378k) in funding to deliver training and second tier support for the debt advice
sector. The Chief Executive of Money Advice Scotland is Yvonne MacDermid who, since 17 February
2011, has also been a non-executive board member of AiB.

18. Payments to suppliers

The Agency complies with the Confederation of British Industry prompt payment code and is
committed to the prompt payment of bills for goods and services received. Payments are normally
made as specified in the contract. If there is no contractual provision or other understanding, they
are due to be made within 30 days of the receipt of the goods and services, or the presentation of a
valid invoice or similar demand, whichever is later. In 2016-17 the percentage of invoices paid on
time was 100% (2015-16 – 100%).

In line with Scottish Government direction, AiB will look to pay all suppliers within 10 days. In
2016-17 this was achieved 98% on time (2015-16 - 96%).

19.  Post balance sheet events

There were no significant post balance sheet events.

20.  Audit

Under the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, the Auditor General for Scotland
is responsible for appointing the external auditors of the Agency. For the years 2011-12 to 2015-16
Audit Scotland were appointed to carry out the Agency audit. From 2016-17 Grant Thornton UK LLP
were appointed. The notional fee for this service in 2016-17 was £42k (2015-16 - £42k), which
relates solely to the provision of statutory audit services. No payments were made to Grant
Thornton UK LLP other than in respect of the statutory audit.
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Appendix A

Direction by the Scottish Ministers
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Direction by the Scottish Ministers

in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000

1. The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2006 and subsequent
years shall comply with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the edition
of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) which is in force for the year for
which the statement of accounts are prepared.

2. The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the income and
expenditure, recognised gains and losses, and cash flows for the financial year, and of the
state of affairs as at the end of the financial year.

3. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of accounts. The
direction given on 28 March 2003 is hereby revoked.

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers

Dated 17 January 2006
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Appendix B

Statistical information 1

Personal insolvency: Bankruptcy

Bankruptcy (also known as sequestration in Scotland) is a legal declaration that a person cannot
pay their debts. If a person is declared bankrupt, control of their assets are passed to a trustee
who may sell them to pay money owed to creditors.

Awards of bankruptcy

There were 4,562 bankruptcies awarded in 2016-17, an increase of 21% when compared with
2015-16 (see table 1).

Bankruptcies in 2016-17 have increased when compared with the previous year but activity levels
in 2015-16 were likely lower than otherwise might have been because of legislative and
operational changes introduced through the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 2014
(BADA(S)) on 1 April 2015. The number of bankruptcies awarded in 2016-17 was 32% lower than
in 2014-15 and 36% lower than in 2013-14.

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Table 1: Awards of bankruptcy, 2012-13 to 2016-17

Year 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Awards of bankruptcy 8,838 7,112 6,730 3,765 4,562

Awards of bankruptcy by petition type

Awards of bankruptcy can be grouped into three types:

● Debtor application – application made by the debtor to The Accountant in Bankruptcy
● Creditor petition – applications to the court by a creditor to pursue the sequestration of a

debtor
● Trust deed petition – applications where the trustee under a trust deed has applied to the

court for the debtor’s sequestration as the trust deed has failed

1. Previously published figures subject to revision
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Awards of bankruptcy
petition type 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Debtor applications 7,338 5,740 5,331 2,593 3,374

Creditor petitions 1,391 1,328 1,385 1,170 1,182

Trust deed petitions 109 44 14 2 6

Total awards of bankruptcy 8,838 7,112 6,730 3,765 4,562

Awards of bankruptcy by trustee appointment and petition type

In Scotland, a trustee is appointed to administer each bankruptcy. The Accountant in Bankruptcy
(The Accountant) will be the trustee unless an insolvency practitioner (IP) is nominated to act.

In 2016-17, 84% of all awards of bankruptcies were cases where The Accountant in Bankruptcy
was appointed as trustee. In the remaining 16% of cases, an insolvency practitioner was the
nominated trustee.

Table 3 shows awards of bankruptcy by trustee appointment and petition type in 2015-16 and
2016-17. The number of cases where AiB was appointed as trustee increased from 3,013 cases in
2015-16 to 3,844 cases in 2016-17 due to an increase in debtor application awards of bankruptcy.

The number of cases where an IP was appointed trustee showed a small fall in 2016-17. In
contrast to the cases where AiB was appointed as trustee, debtor applications where an IP was
appointed as trustee decreased by 12% and creditor petitions increased by 13%.

Table 2 shows that the majority (74%) of bankruptcies awarded came from debtor applications.
The number of bankruptcies awarded through debtor applications increased by 30% in 2016-17
when compared with 2015-16. This year-on-year increase in debtor application awards of
bankruptcy was the main factor behind the overall increase in awards of bankruptcy.

Awards of bankruptcy through creditor petitions increased by 1.0%. Trust deed petition
bankruptcies remained less than 1% of all awards of bankruptcy in 2016-17.

Table 2: Awards of bankruptcy by petition type, 2012-13 to 2016-17
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Debtor applications for bankruptcy received by AiB

Not all debtor applications for bankruptcy result in an award being made and applications can
be rejected (criteria for bankruptcy not met) or returned (application errors).

The trend in debtor applications will follow a similar trend to bankruptcies awarded. Applications
for bankruptcy increased in 2016-17 when compared with the previous year. In 2016-17, 3,581
applications for bankruptcy were received by AiB, an increase of 29% on 2015-16 (see table 4).

This increase in bankruptcy applications should be seen in the context of a decrease in
bankruptcy applications in 2015-16, likely due to legislative changes in the first quarter of
2015-16. Furthermore, the current level is significantly lower than in 2008‑09 when over 12,000
applications for bankruptcy were received.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Table 4: Debtor applications for bankruptcy, 2015-16 and 2016-17

2015-16 2016-17

Debtor applications received 2,778 3,581

Debtor applications returned 46 81

Rejections 97 104

Awards of bankruptcy petition type 2015-16 2016-17

AiB as trustee 3,013 3,844

Debtor applications 2,057 2,903
Creditor petitions 954 937
Trustee petitions 2 4
IP as trustee 752 718

Debtor applications 536 471
Creditor petitions 216 245
Trustee petitions 0 2
Total awards of bankruptcy 3,765 4,562

Table 3: Awards of bankruptcy by trustee appointment and petition type: 2015-16
     and 2016-17
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Table 5: Awards of bankruptcy by type (debtor applications only), 2015-16 to 2016-17

 Awards of bankruptcy
(debtor applications only) 2015-16 2016-17

Minimal Asset Process (MAP) 1,288 1,844

Low Income Low Asset (LILA) 74 0

Full Administration 1,231 1,530

Total awards of bankruptcy
(debtor applications only) 2,593 3,374

Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings

Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders (BROs) and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings (BRUs) were
introduced by The Bankruptcy and Diligence etc. (Scotland) Act 2007 and came in to force on 1
April 2008. BRUs were subsequently abolished from April 2015 by the Bankruptcy and Debt Advice
(Scotland) Act 2014.

These measures provide a level of protection to businesses and consumers to make debtors
accountable where there has been a level of misconduct by the debtor either before or after the
date of bankruptcy. BRUs are agreed with the cooperation of a debtor. BROs for a period of
between two, but less than 5 years are imposed by AiB whilst BROs of a longer duration require an
application through the court.

Bankruptcy awards by debtor applications

In 2016-17, 74% of the 4,562 awards of bankruptcy came from debtor applications.

There are two types of debtor applications for bankruptcy: Minimal Asset Process (MAP) or Full
Administration. In 2016-17, the majority (55%) of bankruptcies awarded through debtor applications
were MAP cases with the remaining cases being Full Administration (see table 5).

MAP bankruptcy replaced the Low Income Low Asset (LILA) route in April 2015. As LILA cases were still
being awarded in 2015-16, 2016-17 was the first full year with MAP and Full Administration as the
only two types of bankruptcy for debtor applications.

The number of LILA bankruptcy awards followed the declining trend in overall bankruptcies since
2008-09. There was a spike in activity in April to June 2012 likely as a result of the scheduled increase
in fees to access bankruptcy being introduced on 1 June 2012. The introduction of BADA(S) in April
2015, was the most likely cause for the sharp decline in the number of bankruptcies awarded in April
to June 2015.

Since the start of 2015-16, MAP and Full Administration awards have gradually increased but overall
levels remain low when compared with bankruptcy levels in 2008-09 and 2009-10.
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The decrease in 2016-17 follows the changes in legislation. A number of current BRO investigations
are not being progressed to court or The Accountant because the trustee is delaying the discharge
of the debtor. These cases have been investigated to confirm a BRO application will be appropriate,
but have been put ‘in-abeyance’, pending notification when the trustee is proposing to discharge
the debtor. There were 42 BRO investigations ‘in-abeyance’ at the end of the year.

Accountant in Bankruptcy
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Table 6: Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings, 2015-16

2015-16 2016-17

BRUs accepted 17 3

BROs granted 96 29

BRO applications pending at year end 136 111

Table 6 shows the number of BRUs and BROs in 2015-16 and 2016-17. Both types of restrictions
are accepted or granted in relative small numbers when compared with the overall caseload of
AiB. In 2016-17, there was a decrease in both BRUs accepted and BROs granted but within the
change expected given the small numbers.

https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/statistics-data/debt-solutions-local-authority
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Bankruptcy awards by local authority in 2016-17

The number of
bankruptcies awarded
can be shown by local
authority, based on
the applicant’s
postcode. Using the
estimated adult
population (aged 16+)
of each local authority,
the number of
bankruptcies per
10,000 adults can be
calculated, providing a
representative picture
of the concentration
of bankruptcies in
Scotland1.

Several elements such as access to debt advice, social perception of debt or ease of access to
credit can affect the uptake of statutory debt solutions (bankruptcies awarded, PTDs registered
and DAS DPPs approved). Consequently, the figures presented in this report cannot be regarded
as evidence of the level of indebtedness or economic performance in any particular local
authority.

The rate of bankruptcies per 10,000 adults in Scotland was 10.2 in 2016-17 compared with 8.4 in
2015-16.

Table 7 shows that the lowest bankruptcies rates were in the island local authorities. Inverclyde
and South Ayrshire had low bankruptcy rates but were both in the top six for the rate of PTDs.
West Dunbartonshire was the local authority with the highest rate of bankruptcies per 10,000
adults (see map 1).

Bankruptcy awards (and for other statutory debt solutions) by local authority and for previous
years are available here.

1 Adult population estimates for each local authority are taken from the National Records of
Scotland 2016 mid-year estimates. Rate per 10,000 adults (aged 16+) is the specific number of
statutory debt solutions divided by the number of people aged 16 or over, multiplied by 10,000.
A rate of 100 per 10,000 adults is equivalent to 1% of the adult population. A small number of
cases were unable to be matched to the Scottish Postcode Directory (either the postcode was
unknown or the applicant supplied a postcode outside of Scotland) and are therefore not
included in the council area map. For all three statutory debt solutions unknown postcodes
accounted for less than 1% of annual statutory debt solutions.
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https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/statistics-data/debt-solutions-local-authority
https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/statistics-data/debt-solutions-local-authority
https://www.aib.gov.uk/about-aib/statistics-data/debt-solutions-local-authority
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Table 7: Awards of bankruptcy per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority,
Scotland, 2016-17

Local authority Awards of bankruptcy in 2016-17 Awards of bankruptcy per
10,000 adult population (aged

16+) in 2016-17
West Dunbartonshire 178 24.0
West Lothian 264 18.2
North Ayrshire 178 15.8
Highland 302 15.5
Angus 141 14.5
East Lothian 112 13.2
Aberdeen City 240 12.3
Fife 358 11.7
East Renfrewshire 84 11.2
Dundee City 138 11.1
Falkirk 144 11.0
South Lanarkshire 284 10.8
Moray 85 10.7
Perth and Kinross 126 10.0
Clackmannanshire 42 9.9
North Lanarkshire 268 9.7
Midlothian 66 9.2
East Ayrshire 87 8.6
Stirling 66 8.4
Dumfries and Galloway 100 7.9
Aberdeenshire 166 7.8
Glasgow City 395 7.6
Scottish Borders 73 7.6
Renfrewshire 111 7.6
Shetland Islands 14 7.4
City of Edinburgh 303 7.0
East Dunbartonshire 61 6.9
South Ayrshire 59 6.2
Na h-Eileanan Siar 14 6.2
Inverclyde 40 6.0
Argyll and Bute 44 6.0
Orkney Islands 10 5.5
Unknown postcode 9
Scotland 4,562 10.2

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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Map 1: Awards of bankruptcy per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority,
Scotland, 2016-17

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

1. Aberdeen City 11. East Lothian 21. North Ayrshire
2. Aberdeenshire 12. East Renfrewshire 22. North Lanarkshire
3. Angus 13. Falkirk 23. Perth and Kinross
4. Argyll and Bute 14. Fife 24. Renfrewshire
5. City of Edinburgh 15. Glasgow City 25. Scottish Borders
6. Clackmannanshire 16. Highland 26. South Ayrshire
7. Dumfries and Galloway 17. Inverclyde 27. South Lanarkshire
8. Dundee City 18. Midlothian 28. Stirling
9. East Ayrshire 19. Moray 29. West Dunbartonshire
10. East Dunbartonshire 20. Na h-Eileanan Siar 30. West Lothian
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Bankruptcies discharged

For all bankruptcies awarded between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2015, a debtor was discharged
from their bankruptcy, in the majority of cases, after one year. The introduction of MAP from 1
April 2015 saw those cases awarded under this process usually discharged after six months.
Subject to statutory conditions all other cases are generally discharged after one year.

In 2016-17, there were 7,395 bankruptcies discharged, a 16% decrease on the previous year. This
annual change reflects the decrease in awards of bankruptcy between 2014-15 and 2015-16.

Table 8: Awards of bankruptcy per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority,
Scotland, 2016-17

2015-16 2016-17

Bankruptcies discharged 8,826 7,395

Although the debtor discharge may occur after one year, a trustee may remain in office to allow
the administration of the bankruptcy to be completed.

When the trustee in a bankruptcy is discharged, any funds gathered in respect of debts are
divided among the creditors depending on the type of debt included in the bankruptcy. Secured
debt is backed by some form of collateral which would be considered as a security should
default of payment occur, for example, secured debt over property. Preferred debt is payable
before ordinary and postponed debts in a bankruptcy, trust deed, or the winding up of a
company.

It should be noted, however, that the protected status of many preferred creditors was
abolished following revisions to the legislation in September 2003. Ordinary debt is any other
type that is not preferred or secured.

Awards concluded during 2016-17 and the dividend outcome of the discharged cases are shown
in table 9.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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2015-16 2016-17
In dependence at start of year (live cases) 20,142 14,931
New awards 3,765 4,562
Total 23,907 19,493
Less:
Recalls/Disposals/Discharges (150) (42)
Bankruptcies concluded by discharge of the
trustee in which:
No dividend was payable to creditors (5,190) (3,976)
Dividend payable to preferred creditors only (3) (4)
Dividend payable to ordinary creditors (1,386) (1,532)
Discharged LILA cases (1,782) (195)
Discharged MAP cases (465) (1,688)
Total concluded (8,976) (7,437)
Cases in dependence at 31 March 14,931 12,056

Table 9: Bankruptcies awarded and concluded, 2016-17 and 2015-16

Of the bankruptcies concluded by discharge of the permanent trustee, 72% resulted in no
dividend payable to creditors and 28% resulted in a dividend payable to ordinary creditors. This
includes cases where a dividend could be payable and therefore excludes MAP and LILA cases.

If all bankruptcy cases that concluded by discharge of the trustee in 2016-17 are considered,
including MAP and LILA cases, a dividend was paid to ordinary creditors in 21% of cases.

Table 10 shows details of the 1,536 cases wound up and where a dividend was paid and the
division of funds following a trustee’s discharge during 2016-17:

Table 10: Bankruptcies wound up by division of funds following the trustee's discharge
during, 2016-17 and 2015-16

Dividend payable to 2015-16 2016-17
Preferred creditors only 3 4
Ordinary creditors
Less than 25p per £ 808 906
Between 25p and 50p per £ 182 227
Between 50p and 75p per £ 76 105
Between 75p and 99p per £ 61 65
100p per £ plus interest 259 229
Sub Total 1,386 1,532
Total 1,389 1,536
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Table 10 shows that 59% of cases where ordinary creditor dividends are paid were paid at less
than 25 pence in the pound compared with 58% in 2015-16. The table also shows that 15%
were paid at 100 pence in the pound plus interest compared with 19% in 2015-16.

The Accountant in Bankruptcy may not seek their appointment as trustee in bankruptcies in
Scotland, but by default, or specific nomination by creditors, they were appointed as trustee
in 84% of bankruptcies awarded in Scotland in 2016-17, compared with 80% of bankruptcies
awards in 2015-16.

Appointment by default means The Accountant is regularly appointed as trustee in
bankruptcies where the debtor has few or no assets or income from which sufficient funds
can be gathered to enable a dividend be paid to creditors. The Accountant automatically
becomes trustee in all MAP cases and was automatically trustee in all LILA cases.

Table 11 compares the dividend outcome of bankruptcy cases for private sector trustees and
AiB when acting as a trustee in 2016-17. The comparison is made where the permanent
trustee was discharged and the distribution of dividends was payable to preferred or ordinary
creditors. MAP or LILA cases are not included because these cases do not generate a
dividend. The average dividend is based on those cases where a dividend was payable to a
preferred or ordinary creditor.

Table 11: Comparison of dividend outcomes between private sector trustees and AiB
when acting as a trustee, 2015-16 and 2016-17

AiB as trustee Private sector trustees
Cases concluded 2015-16 2016-17 2015-16 2016-17
By permanent trustee discharge 4,377 3,194 1,982 2,318

With dividend payable to
preferred or ordinary creditor

1,003 1,249 386 287

No dividend to any class of
creditor

3,374 1,945 1,596 2,031

Average dividend (pence in the £) 29.3 22.8 24.3 17.1

Note: the table does not include MAP or LILA cases as these do not generate a dividend

A total of £17.0 million was repaid to creditors. Where AiB was trustee, £12.8 million was repaid
and £4.2 million was repaid where a private sector trustee had been in place.

Overall, the average dividend paid to ordinary or preferred creditors was 21.1 pence in the £. In
cases where AiB was appointed the trustee, the average dividend was 22.8 pence in the £
compared with 17.1 pence in the £ for cases where a private sector trustee was appointed.
Dividends are affected by the realised value of assets, which in turn, are affected by economic
conditions.
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Contracted out insolvency services

The Insolvency Services Framework allows The Accountant in Bankruptcy to use external
providers to administer bankruptcy cases on their behalf, where The Accountant has been
appointed trustee.

Table 12 shows that 1,940 cases were contracted out and 3,177 contracted out cases were
discharged in 2016-17. Of these, 1,976 (62%) were cases with assets realised.

Table 12: Contracted out cases, 2015-16 and 2016-17

2015-16 2016-17

Total cases allocated 1,853 1,940

Total cases discharged 3,891 3,177

Total cases with assets realised 2,043 1,976

% of cases with assets realised 53% 62%

Further information on these cases including the value of the assets realised and the
expenses on realisation are shown in tables 13 and 14.

The total value of assets realised was £29.8 million. Heritable assets, which are properties in
the form of land, houses, and buildings that become heritable by accession, made up 73%
of the value of all assets realised. Ingathered contributions and funds each made up 25% of
the value of all assets realised.

The total expenses of realisation was £9.6 million, the majority of which was made up of
expenses on secured assets.
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Expense type £000
Total heritage 1,074
Total secured 8,461
Total moveable 88
Total miscellaneous 1
Total expenses 9,623

Table 14: Breakdown of expenses of realisation on discharged contracted out cases, 2016-17

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Table 13: Breakdown of assets realised in discharged contracted out cases, 2016-17

Asset type £000
Total heritage 21,771
Total moveable 580
Total ingathered funds 4,799
Total ingathered contributions 2,693
Total value of assets realised 29,843
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Personal insolvency: Protected trust deeds

A protected trust deed (PTD) is a formal debt solution where an agreement is made between a
debtor and creditors to repay part or all of their debt. The debtor conveys their estate to an
insolvency practitioner (the trustee) to administer for the benefit of creditors and the
arrangement normally includes a contribution from income for a set period.

Protected trust deeds registered

There were 5,470 PTDs registered in 2016-17, a 16% increase on the previous year. PTDs have
followed a similar trend to bankruptcies with a large decline since 2009-10 when 9,188 PTDs
were registered (see table 15). PTDs, since 2014-15, have increased year-on-year with more
PTDs being registered in 2016-17 than awards of bankruptcy.

Table 15: Protected trust deeds registered, 2012-13 to 2016-17

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Protected trust deeds registered 8,177 6,681 4,437 4,709 5,470

Protected trust deeds registered by local authority in 2016-17

The rate of PTDs per 10,000 adults in Scotland increased to 12.2 in 2016-17 from 10.6 in the
previous financial year.

Inverclyde was the local authority with the largest rate of PTDs per 10,000 adult population,
followed by North Lanarkshire (table 16 and map 2).

Na h-Eileanan Siar, Shetland Islands and Orkney Islands were the local authorities with the
lowest rate of PTDs per 10,000 adults.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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Local authority PTDs registered in 2016-17 PTDs registered per 10,000 adult
population (aged 16+) in 2016-17

Inverclyde 106 16.0
North Lanarkshire 441 16.0
Clackmannanshire 66 15.6
East Ayrshire 156 15.5
North Ayrshire 172 15.3
South Ayrshire 144 15.2
Falkirk 199 15.2
West Dunbartonshire 112 15.1
West Lothian 209 14.4
Renfrewshire 206 14.1
South Lanarkshire 368 14.0
Midlothian 100 13.9
Fife 413 13.5
Dundee City 165 13.3
Glasgow City 683 13.2
Aberdeen City 244 12.5
Scottish Borders 114 11.9
East Lothian 100 11.8
Moray 91 11.4
Argyll and Bute 79 10.7
Dumfries and Galloway 133 10.6
Angus 102 10.5
Highland 203 10.4
Perth and Kinross 124 9.8
Aberdeenshire 184 8.6
Stirling 65 8.3
East Dunbartonshire 72 8.1
City of Edinburgh 329 7.7
East Renfrewshire 55 7.3
Orkney Islands 13 7.1
Shetland Islands 11 5.8
Na h-Eileanan Siar 9 4.0
Unknown postcode 2
Scotland 5,470 12.2

Table 16: PTDs registered per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority, Scotland,
2016-17
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Map 2: PTDs registered per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority, Scotland,
2016-17

1. Aberdeen City 11. East Lothian 21. North Ayrshire
2. Aberdeenshire 12. East Renfrewshire 22. North Lanarkshire
3. Angus 13. Falkirk 23. Perth and Kinross
4. Argyll and Bute 14. Fife 24. Renfrewshire
5. City of Edinburgh 15. Glasgow City 25. Scottish Borders
6. Clackmannanshire 16. Highland 26. South Ayrshire
7. Dumfries and Galloway 17. Inverclyde 27. South Lanarkshire
8. Dundee City 18. Midlothian 28. Stirling
9. East Ayrshire 19. Moray 29. West Dunbartonshire
10. East Dunbartonshire 20. Na h-Eileanan Siar 30. West Lothian
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Protected trust deeds concluded

When the administration of the trust deed is complete, the trustee must apply to creditors for
their discharge.

In 2016-17, 8,096 protected trust deeds were concluded, similar to the number of PTDs
concluded in 2015-16 (see table 17).

Table 17: Protected trust deeds concluded, 2015-16 and 2016-17

2015-16 2016-17

Protected trust deeds concluded 8,056 8,096

Table 18 shows the performance of protected trust deeds in relation to cases that have been
concluded during 2016-17 and the comparative performance in the previous year.

In 2016-17, a dividend was paid to creditors in 75% of cases concluded in year, similar to the
proportion in the previous year. Excluding failed PTDs (where the debtor is not discharged), a
dividend was paid in 86% of cases concluded in 2016‑17.

Table 18: protected trust deeds registered and concluded, 2016-17 and 2015-161,2

2015-16 2016-17
Number of PTDs recorded in the Register of
Insolvencies up to preceding 31 March 33,364 30,017

PTDs registered during the year 4,709 5,470
Less concluded
PTDs where no dividend payable to ordinary
creditors (1,758) (2,050)

PTDs where dividend payable to ordinary
creditors (5540) (6,046)

Total concluded (7,298) (8,096)
(758) -

PTDs remaining open on 31 March 30,017 27,391

1 Dividend information shown for PTD cases based on cases where Form 7 and Form 11
available and does not include cases where the trustee was reappointed. See table 17 for
revised number of PTDs discharged.
2 PTDs remaining open on 31 March 2016 reflects revised number of PTDs concluded in
2015-16 (as shown in table 17). The balancing item here reflects the difference in PTDs
concluded in 2015-16 (for which we have Form 7 and Form 11 information available at the
time of compiling last year’s annual report) and the revised number of PTDs concluded
(8,056) using the latest available information.
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Table 19 shows the distribution of funds collected and allocated at the discharge of the trustee
in 2015-16 and 2016-17. In 2016-17, £74.6 million was ingathered, a 7.1% increase on the total
receipts in 2015-16. Overall, 39% of total receipts was payable to creditors through a dividend
compared with 41% in 2015-16, meaning a majority of total receipts were allocated to
administration expenses.

The average administration cost of a protected trust deed that concluded with a dividend
payable was £7,479 in 2016-17, a similar cost to the £7,466 in 2015-16.

Table 19: Protected trust deeds concluded where a dividend is payable to ordinary
creditors, 2016-17 and 2015-161

2015-16 2016-17

Cases concluded where dividend is payable 5,540 6,046

Total receipts (£’000) 69,667 74,584

Administration expenses (£’000) 41,363 45,220
Payable to creditors (£’000) 28,304 29,364

Secured/preferred creditors (£’000) 14 96
Ordinary creditors (£’000) 28,290 29,268

1 Dividend information shown for PTD cases based on cases where Form 7 and Form 11 available and
does not include cases where the trustee was reappointed. See table 17 for number of PTDs concluded.

Table 20 shows the distribution of funds collated and allocated at the discharge of the trustee
of a protected trust deed where no dividend was payable to ordinary creditors. In 2016-17,
£9.3 million was ingathered for these type of cases compared with £6.8 million in 2015-16.

2015-16 2016-17

Cases concluded where no dividend is payable to
ordinary creditors 1,758 2,050

Total receipts (£’000) 6,763 9,303

Administration expenses (£’000) 6,757 9,303

Payable to creditors (£’000) 6 0

Secured/preferred creditors (£’000) 6 0

Ordinary creditors (£’000) 0 0

Table 20: Protected trust deeds concluded where no dividend payable to ordinary
creditors, 2015-16 and 2016-171

1 Dividend information shown for PTD cases based on cases where Form 7 and Form 11 available and does
not include cases where the trustee was reappointed. See table 17 for number of PTDs concluded.
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The average dividend payable (to ordinary creditors) for the 6,046 protected trust deeds
concluded during 2016-17 where there was a dividend paid was 19.8 pence in the £ compared
with 20.1 pence in the £ in 2015-16.

In previous years the estimated average dividend and actual average dividend has been
calculated by taking an average of dividends paid to ordinary creditors (an “average of
averages” method. This year, the method outlined in table 21 has been used instead with the
advantage that it gives fair weight to each case’s receipts and debts.

The disadvantage of using an “average of averages” method, as used in previous years, is that it
gives undue weight to cases with relatively small total debts but high percentage dividends paid
to creditors.

Based on the average of averages method, the average dividend payable (to ordinary creditors)
for the 6,046 protected trust deeds concluded during 2016-17 where there was a dividend paid
was 23.1 pence in the £ compared with 23.4 pence in the £ in 2015-16.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Protected trust deed Form 7 & 11 performance:
Summary by company, 2016-17

The Form 7 and Form 11 returns detail the trustee’s actual statement of realisation and
distribution of estate under a protected trust deed. The following tables summarise the
performance based on this information from the Form 7 and Form 11 returns.

The percentage of cases where administration costs have increased by 25% or more includes
protected trust deeds where there has been increased complexity or a lack of co-operation from
the debtor, requiring the trustee to commit more time to the administration of these cases.

The Form 7 table includes information on the number of trust deeds where a dividend was not
paid to creditors. A proportion of these cases failed, so the debtor was not discharged from
liability to pay the debts included in the PTD.
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Table 21: Protected trust deed Form 7 performance – summary by company 2016-17

The table below shows the performance of trustees in cases where the trust deed was
protected from 1 April 2008 onwards.

Company1 PTDs

Average
estimated
dividend

(Form 3)2

(p in the £)

Average
actual

dividend
paid

(Form 7)3

(p in the £)

Average
dividend
variance
between

Form 3
and

Form 7

Number
of cases

where
zero

dividend
paid

% of
cases

where
zero

dividend
paid

 Admin.
costs

increased
by 25% or

more4
Failed
PTDs5

Apex Debt Solutions 1,462 14.9 18.7 26% 144 10% 45% 5%
Wilson Andrews 1,014 14.9 28.2 89% 131 13% 25% 14%
KPMG 718 16.9 32.3 91% 178 25% 38% 8%
Carrington Dean 683 12.0 9.5 -21% 133 19% 59% 8%
Creditfix Ltd. 578 17.4 16.9 -3% 71 12% 72% 8%
Knightsbridge 503 13.9 16.3 18% 318 63% 51% 63%
Invocas Financial Limited 474 16.2 15.0 -7% 347 73% 94% 8%
Wylie & Bisset 454 15.5 19.8 28% 30 7% 54% 3%
MacGregors 321 19.7 23.2 18% 170 53% 100% 3%
Begbies Traynor 298 12.5 16.7 34% 93 31% 60% 10%
Campbell Wallace Fraser 291 15.2 28.5 88% 216 74% 17% 74%
A.G. Taggart & Co. 185 14.5 19.9 37% 14 8% 27% 2%
HJS Recovery 106 12.9 11.2 -13% 15 14% 81% 9%
Payplan Scotland 105 19.9 27.3 37% 17 16% 26% 15%
Mazars 92 10.6 11.0 3% 1 1% 57% 2%

WRI Associates 83 15.0 16.5 10% 8 10% 21% 11%
William Duncan 77 16.0 14.1 -12% 18 23% 20% 4%
180 Advisory Solutions 74 13.5 13.2 -2% 3 4% 62% 1%
Campbell Dallas 71 20.8 17.8 -14% 20 28% 86% 13%
Grant Thornton 52 22.4 26.9 20% 2 4% 34% 0%
MLM CPS 51 15.4 10.6 -31% 16 31% 71% 2%
Findlay Hamilton 42 12.5 11.0 -12% 0 0% 98% 0%
French Duncan 34 23.6 16.6 -30% 3 9% 87% 6%

1 Includes companies with a minimum number of 25 PTDs only (98% of PTDs in Form 7 returns where trustee
discharged in 2016-17)
2 Estimated average dividend to ordinary creditor from Form 3. Based on sum of estimated net realisation divided by
sum of total debts due for all cases where dividend paid
3 Actual average dividend paid from Form 7. Based on sum of total paid to ordinary creditors divided by sum of
ordinary creditor final debt for all cases where dividend paid
4 Percentage of cases with a dividend paid to ordinary creditors
5 Debtor not discharged as a percentage of all cases
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Table 22: Protected trust deed Form 11 performance - summary by company 2016-17

The table below shows the performance of trustees in cases where the trust deed was protected
prior to 1 April 2008.

Company1 PTDs

Average actual
dividend paid

(Form 11)2

(p in the £)

Number of cases
where zero dividend

paid

Percentage of cases
where zero dividend

paid
Invocas 65 8.1 46 71%

AFS 39 18.9 9 23%

Begbies Traynor 30 23 18 60%

1 Includes companies with a minimum number of 25 PTDs only (71% of PTDs in Form 11 returns where trustee
discharged in 2016-17)
2 Average dividend to ordinary creditor from Form 11. Based on sum of total paid to ordinary creditors divided by
total of ordinary creditor final debt

Balance of consignations

Consignations are unallocated funds at the end of a bankruptcy or a trust deed. These can be in
the form of dividends that the trustee has been unable to pay to a creditor, funds that are due
to be reverted to the debtor but the trustee has been unable to pay or in some trust deeds or
bankruptcies there may have been such a small amount of funds ingathered that it is
uneconomical to pay a dividend. These monies are consigned as an unapplied balance.

In 2009-10 AiB migrated the majority of its records onto the electronic case management
system to improve identification of the ownership of these funds. The Agency continues to
attempt to reduce the flow of consignations reaching AiB. In 2016-17, £3.8 million was received
compared with £5.9 million in 2015-16. Overall in 2016-17, consignation balances decreased by
12%.

Table 23 shows the total balance of funds held at the end of the reporting period from 2011-12
to 2016-17.

Table 23: Balance of consignations, 2011-12 to 2016-17

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

Balance of consignations
(£ million)

20.4 19.7 19.2 19.7 19.1 16.7
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Corporate insolvency: Liquidations and receiverships

AiB develops policy for certain aspects of corporate insolvency and is responsible for receiving
and recording information on liquidations and receiverships of Scottish businesses, held in the
Register of Insolvencies (RoI).

The RoI contains details of liquidation and receivership of Scottish businesses which are wound
up by either a Sheriff Court or the Court of Session. AiB is required to be notified of all company
liquidations and receiverships in Scotland.

The statistics presented below are based on the date the insolvency was registered on AiB's
administrative system. There is a time lag between the dates when a corporate insolvency is
awarded or a members’ voluntary liquidation is registered and when AiB receives notice.

There were 846 corporate insolvencies in 2016-17, 56 fewer than in 2015-16 (see table 24).
Corporate insolvencies include receiverships appointments, compulsory liquidations and
creditors’ voluntary liquidations.

Table 24: Corporate insolvencies by type, 2015-16 and 2016-17

Corporate insolvencies 2015-16 2016-17

Receiverships 4 5

Compulsory liquidations 596 558

Creditors' voluntary
liquidations

302 283

Total corporate insolvencies 902 846

In 2016-17, Accountant in Bankruptcy also recorded 597 members’ voluntary liquidations
compared with 810 in 2015-16. Members’ voluntary liquidations are not a form of insolvency.

AiB does not publish statistics on the number of company voluntary arrangements or
administrations, which are a reserved matter for the UK Government. These statistics are
available from The Insolvency Service.

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics?departments%5B%5D=insolvency-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics?departments%5B%5D=insolvency-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics?departments%5B%5D=insolvency-service
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics?departments%5B%5D=insolvency-service
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Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS)

The Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) is a statutory debt management solution administered by
AiB. Under DAS, a debtor commits to a Debt Payment Programme (DPP) which allows them to
repay their debts based on their disposable income while they are protected from creditors taking
any action against them to recover their debt.

Approved Debt Arrangement Scheme debt payment programmes

In 2016-17, there were 2,233 approved DPP under DAS, a similar level to the 2,043 approved in
2015-16 (see table 25).

A DPP reaches completion when the debt in the DPP has been paid in full, minus the fees paid to
the DAS Administrator and the payments distributer. There were 1,603 completed DAS DPPs in
2016-17, a 25% increase when compared with 2015‑16.

Table 25 also shows that debt included in debt payment programmes has decreased from £249.7
million to £232.9 million by 31 March 2017. In 2016-17, £37.3 million was repaid through DAS
similar to the £38.0 million repaid in 2015-16. Through DAS, creditors receive a minimum of 90%
of the debt owed to them from debtors (after DAS Administrator and payment distributor fees).

Table 25: Debt Arrangement Scheme, 2016-17 and 2015-16

2015-16 2016-17

DPP applications received 2,186 2,415
DPPs rejected (150) (178)
DPPs awaiting decision 18 54
DPPs approved 2,043 2,233

Joint DPPs approved 401 408
Single-debt DPPs approved 87 74
Completed DPPs 1,285 1,603
Live DPPs at end of reporting period 13,801 12,924
Total value of debts included in DPPs (£’million) 249.7 232.9
Total repaid through DAS (£’million) 38 37.3
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Applications to vary a debt payment programme

If a debtor's circumstances change and they can no longer afford the agreed payments, or if they
want to increase the level of payment, they can apply to the DAS Administrator for a variation to
their programme. A money adviser may also apply for a variation on behalf of the debtor and a
creditor may apply provided they have first made reasonable attempt to agree the variation with
the debtor. Variation can result in one or more of a number of changes:

● the amount paid to creditors might be increased
● the amount paid to creditors might be reduced
● the length of the debt payment programme might be reduced
● the length of the programme might be increased
● a new condition might be attached

In 2016-17, there were 2,328 approved applications to vary a debt payment programme compared
with 2,885 in 2015-16 (see table 26)

Table 26: Applications to vary a debt payment programme, 2015-16 and 2016‑17

Applications to vary a debt payment
programme 2015-16 2016-17

Approved 2,885 2,328

Rejected 119 149

Total applications to vary a debt payment
programme 3,004 2,477

Applications to revoke a debt payment programme

A debt payment programme is automatically revoked if the debtor is made bankrupt or enters
a trust deed which becomes protected. There are also a number of grounds where the debtor,
a money adviser acting on behalf of the debtor or a creditor can apply to revoke a programme,
including where:

● a debtor has failed to satisfy the conditions of the debt payment programme
● the debtor has missed two payments and the third is due
● the debtor has made an untrue statement when applying for DAS or variations to their

programme
● the parties involved in a joint debt payment programme have separated

In 2016-17, there were 1,583 approved applications to revoke a debt payment programme
compared with 1,709 in 2015-16 (see table 27). Overall, there were 1,507 DAS DPP cases
revoked in 2016-17 compared with 1,590 in 2015-16. Applications to revoke a DAS DPP can
come from more than one party.
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Table 27: Applications to revoke a debt payment programme, 2015-16 and 2016-17

Applications to revoke a DPP 2015-16 2016-17
Approved 1,709 1,583
Rejected 916 897
Total applications to revoke a DPP 2,625 2,480
Approved DPPs revoked as a percentage
of live DAS cases 12% 12%

Debt payment programmes by local authority in 2016-17

The rate of DAS DPPs per 10,000 adult population in Scotland was 5.0 in 2016-17 compared
with 4.6 in 2015-16.

Moray was the local authority with the highest rate of DAS per 10,000 adults with the lowest in
the Shetland Islands (see table 28 and map 3).

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17
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Table 28: DAS DPPs approved per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority,
Scotland, 2016-17

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

Local authority DAS DPPs approved in 2016-17 DAS DPPs approved per 10,000
adult population (aged 16+) in

2016-17
Moray 84 10.6
Fife 237 7.7
West Dunbartonshire 55 7.4
South Lanarkshire 192 7.3
North Lanarkshire 197 7.1
Dundee City 75 6.0
Clackmannanshire 25 5.9
West Lothian 84 5.8
East Lothian 48 5.6
Inverclyde 37 5.6
East Renfrewshire 40 5.3
Midlothian 38 5.3
Renfrewshire 77 5.3
Dumfries and Galloway 58 4.6
Angus 44 4.5
Falkirk 58 4.4
Na h-Eileanan Siar 10 4.4
Scottish Borders 41 4.3
Highland 83 4.3
Argyll and Bute 31 4.2
East Ayrshire 39 3.9
Glasgow City 195 3.8
Aberdeen City 73 3.7
Perth and Kinross 47 3.7
North Ayrshire 42 3.7
Aberdeenshire 79 3.7
Stirling 27 3.5
City of Edinburgh 146 3.4
East Dunbartonshire 29 3.3
South Ayrshire 30 3.2
Orkney Islands 5 2.7
Shetland Islands 4 2.1
Unknown postcode 3
Scotland 2,233 5.0
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Map 3: DAS DPPs approved per 10,000 adult (16+) population by local authority, Scotland,
2016-17

1. Aberdeen City 11. East Lothian 21. North Ayrshire
2. Aberdeenshire 12. East Renfrewshire 22. North Lanarkshire
3. Angus 13. Falkirk 23. Perth and Kinross
4. Argyll and Bute 14. Fife 24. Renfrewshire
5. City of Edinburgh 15. Glasgow City 25. Scottish Borders
6. Clackmannanshire 16. Highland 26. South Ayrshire
7. Dumfries and Galloway 17. Inverclyde 27. South Lanarkshire
8. Dundee City 18. Midlothian 28. Stirling
9. East Ayrshire 19. Moray 29. West Dunbartonshire
10. East Dunbartonshire 20. Na h-Eileanan Siar 30. West Lothian
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How to contact us
Accountant in Bankruptcy
1 Pennyburn Road
Kilwinning
KA13 6SA

LP-4 KILWINNING

DX 552090 KILWINNING 2

Telephone 0300 200 2600
Fax    0300 200 2601

Website: www.aib.gov.uk for advice on the administration of the sequestration process in Scotland

Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17

www.aib.gov.uk
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